
VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST 
REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD MEETING 

Monday, January 9, 2017 – 7:00 PM 
Village Hall – 400 Park Avenue – River Forest, IL 60305 

Community Room 
 

AGENDA  
 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Citizen Comments 
 

4. Elected Official Comments & Announcements        

a.  Swearing-In of New Firefighters McKenna and Monaghan 
b.  Swearing-In of Fire Lieutenant David Bochenek 

5.   Consent Agenda 

a. Regular Village Board Meeting Minutes – December 12, 2016 
b. Executive Session Meeting Minutes – December 12, 2016 
c. Recognition of Service for Gerald Johnson – Resolution  
d. Recognition of Service for John Hagensick – Resolution  
e. Declaration of Surplus Vehicle – 2001 Public Works Chevrolet Pickup – Ordinance 
f. Declaration of Surplus Vehicle – 2009 Police Crown Vic – Ordinance 
g. Establishment of Special Service Area Number 10 for Promenade Townhomes – Ordinance   
h. Monthly Department Reports 
i. Monthly Performance Measurement Report 
j. Village Administrator’s Report 
 

6.  Recommendations of Boards, Commissions and Committees 
 

7.  Unfinished Business   
a. Authorization Of The Execution Of The Third Amendment To The Redevelopment Agreement For Lake 

Street And Lathrop Avenue In The Village Of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois – Resolution  
 

8.  New Business 
a. Presentation by Concordia University Chicago – Introduction to Amendment to Planned Development Permit 

for Cell Phone Tower 
 

9.  Executive Session 
 

10.  Adjournment 
 

 



VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST  
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES MINUTES 

December 12, 2016 
 

A regular meeting of the Village of River Forest Board of Trustees was held on Monday, December 
12, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. in the Community Room of Village Hall, 400 Park Avenue, River Forest, IL. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
 
The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m.  Upon roll call, the following persons were present: 
 
Present:   President Adduci, Trustees Corsini, Cargie, Dwyer, and Gibbs  
Absent:    Trustees Conti and Colwell-Steinke  
Also Present:  Village Clerk Sharon Halperin, Village Administrator Eric Palm, Assistant Village 

Administrator Lisa Scheiner, Police Chief Greg Weiss, Fire Chief Jim Eggert, Finance 
Director Joan Rock, Public Works Director John Anderson, Management Intern 
Jonathan Pape, Village Attorneys Lance Malina and Greg Smith 

                        
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
President Adduci led the pledge of allegiance. 
 
3. CITIZENS COMMENTS  
 
4. ELECTED OFFICIALS COMMENTS AND ANNOUCEMENTS 
 
Trustee Corsini thanked members of the audience for attending the meeting.  She said she would like 
to request a discussion about having the Village’s Boards and Commissions attend a Board meeting 
and provide an annual update on their activities as well as proposed initiatives. She said she would 
like to have this information either leading into the goal setting session or the budget process. 
 
Trustee Cargie stated that the train crossing on Keystone just off Augusta keeps going off at random 
times.  Village Administrator Palm stated that the Village received a resident complaint and Public 
Works Director Anderson has been in touch with Canadian National about this issue. 
 
Trustee Dwyer stated that his term is up in 2017 and he has submitted his candidacy papers today for 
another term. 
 
Trustee Gibbs wished his fellow Board members and the residents Happy Holidays. 
 
President Adduci wished everyone a Happy Holidays.  She discussed her role in the Illinois 
Municipal League (IML) and asked that a copy of the 2017 legislative initiatives be provided to the 
Board. She said that she and Village Administrator Palm attended a PlanItGreen forum last week and 
made a presentation regarding the Village’s sustainability efforts.  

 
a.  Presentation Honoring the 2016 12U Girls Little League Team 
 



  December 12, 2016 
 
 

2 

President Adduci recognized the 12U Girls Little League Team for their successful 2016 season.  
River Forest Youth Baseball/Softball League President Greg White stated that this team went farther 
than any other team in the sixty-three year history of the League.  He discussed the dedication of the 
team and commended the girls on their sportsmanship.  Mike Grant, head coach, thanked Joe Padula, 
and Brian Kita (coach) and Bryan Hoffman (pitching coach) who were not present.  He thanked the 
girls, parents, River Forest Youth Baseball Softball Board, and the volunteers.  He discussed an app 
called Game Changer that allowed those who were unable to attend the games to watch them in real 
time. Joe Padula said it was an honor to coach the girls and discuss friendships that were made with 
other team members. President Adduci presented certificates to the coaches and athletes in 
attendance.   

 
b.  Presentation of Achievement/Resolution Plaque to Sister Michelle of Trinity High School 

   
President Adduci read the Resolution recognizing Trinity High School for the recognition received by 
Newsweek Magazine for the school’s International Baccalaureate Programme.  She presented a 
plaque to Sister Michelle Germanson who related the history of Trinity High School and the steps 
they took to earn the recognition.  

5. CONSENT AGENDA 

a. Regular Village Board Meeting Minutes – November 7, 2016 
b. Executive Session Minutes – November 7, 2016 
c. Approve 2017 Schedule of Public Meetings 
d. Amend Title 1 of the Village Code – Travel Expense Policy – Ordinance 
e. Amend Village Personnel Policy Manual – Overnight Travel   
f. Proclamation – Mayors Monarch Butterfly Pledge 
g. Metropolitan Mayors Caucus Greenest Region Compact 2 – Resolution  
h. Amend Title 8 of the Village Code – Reduce Class 1 Liquor License to 0 (LaMajada) – 

Ordinance  
i. Monthly Department Reports 
j. Monthly Financial Report – November 2016  
k. November 2016 Accounts Payable - $2,103,931.23 
l. Performance Measurement Report 
m. Employment Agreement Amendment – Village Administrator 
n. Village Administrator’s Report  

Trustee Dwyer made a motion, seconded by Trustee Gibbs, to approve the Consent Agenda. 
  
Roll call: 

 
Ayes:    Trustees Gibbs, Corsini, Dwyer, and Cargie 
Absent:   Trustees Colwell-Steinke and Conti 
Nays:  None 
 
Motion Passes. 

 
6. RECOMMENDATIONS OF BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES 

 



  December 12, 2016 
 
 

3 

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
8. NEW BUSINESS 
 

a.  Policy for Planned Developments & Zoning Variations of Historical Properties 
 

Trustee Cargie made a motion, seconded by Trustee Corsini, to adopt a policy regarding input from 
the Historic Preservation Commission for planned development applications and zoning variations. 
 
Trustee Corsini requested the background for this item.  Village Administrator Palm stated that this 
came up when the Village revised the Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) Ordinance and when 
he, President Adduci, Frank Martin, Tom Hazinski, and Tom Zurowski met.  He said that  
Mr. Zurowski stated that there have been instances where either a zoning variation or a planned 
development application involved a significant property.   Mr. Zurowski said there should be 
consistency in how the Village handles these.  He discussed how Community Bank was forthright 
and willing to work with the Village in regard to preserving the historic nature of the Drummond 
Building and met with the HPC prior to restarting the planned development process.  Village 
Administrator Palm stated that approach seemed to work well and the Village concluded it would be 
best to have the HPC on the front end of the process.  Assistant Village Administrator Scheiner 
discussed a variance request for a garage which was designed to match the historically significant 
home.  She said it was denied by the Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) and the homeowners appealed 
to the HPC.  Village Administrator Palm stated the variation process would start at the HPC and those 
discussions would take place prior to the zoning public hearing.  In regard to demolition of a 
significant property, he stated the demolition delay period would start with the initial HPC meeting to 
avoid increasing the time on the clock.   
 
Trustee Corsini stated she believes the Ordinance specifically says when the permit is issued and she 
wondered if an amendment is required.  Village Administrator Palm stated that can be reviewed but 
the intent is that they would run concurrently.  Assistant Village Administrator Scheiner stated that 
initially it would be from the date the demolition application is filed but it would be better to review 
alternatives before there is a decision made to demolish the structure.    
 
In response to a question from Trustee Corsini, Village Administrator Palm stated the policy is what 
governs it and there may not need to be a referral to the policy.    
 
In response to a question from Trustee Corsini, Assistant Village Administrator Scheiner stated the 
garage previously discussed is a secondary structure.   
 
Trustee Gibbs stated that the documents required prior to going before the HPC should be spelled out 
in the Ordinance and should be consistent.  Assistant Village Administrator Scheiner discussed the 
type of documents that would be required.  Trustee Gibbs suggested that the HPC would have 
different questions than the ZBA and by outlining the documents required, it would allow the 
applicant to properly prepare for the meeting with the HPC.  Trustee Gibbs reiterated that it is in the 
best interest of the applicant as well as the HPC for the applicant to have the appropriate documents.  
Assistant Village Administrator Scheiner stated staff has been notifying applicants of the required 
documents as part of a customer service function.   
 
Roll call: 



  December 12, 2016 
 
 

4 

 
Ayes:  Trustees Dwyer, Gibbs, Corsini, and Cargie 
Absent:   Trustees Colwell-Steinke and Conti 
Nays:  None 
 
Motion Passes. 
 

b.  Public Hearing – Special Service Area #10 (Promenade Townhomes) 
 

President Adduci called the Public Hearing to order at 7:42 p.m. Upon roll call, the following persons 
were present: 
 
Present:   President Adduci, Trustees Corsini, Cargie, Dwyer, and Gibbs  
Absent:    Trustees Conti and Colwell-Steinke  
Also Present:  Village Clerk Sharon Halperin, Assistant Village Administrator Lisa Scheiner, Police 

Chief Greg Weiss, Fire Chief Jim Eggert, Finance Director Joan Rock, Public Works 
Director John Anderson, Management Intern Jonathan Pape, Village Attorneys Lance 
Malina and Greg Smith 

 
President Adduci stated that there are no public comments. She invited comments from the Village 
Board of Trustees. 
 
Village Clerk Halperin asked if the Special Service Area (SSA) applies only to the property located at 
7820 W. Madison Street.  Village Administrator Palm affirmed the address and stated that it is where 
the townhomes will be located.  He said the SSA is meant to be a dormant SSA in the event that the 
home owners’ association (HOA) fails in some way.  He added that he hopes the Village never needs 
to use it but it is there if needed.    
 
In response to a question from Trustee Gibbs, Village Administrator Palm stated that procedurally it 
will not be adopted tonight but will be adopted at the first meeting in January if there are no 
objections.   
 
Trustee Cargie asked if this would run with the land even though the future owners do not have an 
opportunity to comment.  Village Administrator Palm said it would.  Village Attorney Malina added 
that it can come in handy if the HOA fails to take action.  
 
In response to a question from Village Clerk Halperin, Village Administrator Palm stated that when a 
buyer closes on a unit, the Village will likely get inquiries about it.  He noted that staff will provide 
an explanation.  In response to a follow up question from Trustee Corsini, Village Administrator 
Palm stated that SSA #10 will appear on the tax bill every year.  Village Clerk Halperin said the SSA 
is noted when it goes to sell.   
 
In response to a question from Trustee Cargie, there was a brief discussion and Village Administrator 
Palm said he believes there is no expiration.  In response to a question from Trustee Corsini, Village 
Administrator Palm stated the payments are spread over a five year period. 
 
In response to a question from Village Clerk Halperin, Village Administrator Palm stated this is the 
first SSA of this kind.  In response to a question from Trustee Corsini, Village Attorney Malina stated 



  December 12, 2016 
 
 

5 

this is a back stop rather than a funding mechanism.  Village Attorney Palm noted that this was 
common in the western suburbs because HOAs were required to be primary in terms of stormwater 
management.  He called attention to multifamily properties throughout town where the parking lots 
are in disrepair because there is no HOA and he stated that the Village does not have a vehicle to 
address these issues.  He recommended that the Board adopt this.  Village Attorney Malina stated this 
is best practice.   
 
Trustee Dwyer made a motion, seconded by Trustee Corsini, to close the public hearing. 
 
Roll call: 
 
Ayes:  Trustees Dwyer, Gibbs, Corsini, and Cargie 
Absent:   Trustees Colwell-Steinke, and Conti 
Nays:  None 
 
Motion Passes. 
 
Village Attorney Malina stated that effective January 1, 2017, Village Attorney Greg Smith will be 
“first chair” as the Village’s Attorney at Board Meetings.  Trustee Corsini and other members of the 
Village Board thanked Village Attorney Malina for his service to the Village.  Village Attorney 
Malina shared a story about how he came to be the Village’s Attorney and thanked the Village Board 
for the opportunity. 
 
9. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
Trustee Cargie made a motion seconded by Trustee Dwyer to recess to Executive Session to discuss 
the acquisition of real property.  
 
Roll call:  
 
Ayes:   Trustees Gibbs, Corsini, Cargie, and Dwyer 
Absent:   Trustees Colwell-Steinke, and Conti 
Nays:   None 
 
Motion Passes.  
 
Call To Order/Roll Call Return to Regular Session  
 
The Board returned to Regular Session at 8:13 p.m. Upon roll call, the following persons were 
present:  
 
President Adduci, Trustees Cargie, Dwyer, Corsini, and Gibbs 
 
Absent: Trustees Colwell-Steinke, and Conti 
 
Also Present: Village Administrator Palm, Assistant Village Administrator Scheiner, Management 
Analyst Pape, Village Attorney Malina and Attorney Smith. 
 



  December 12, 2016 
 
 

6 

10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Gibbs made a motion seconded by Trustee Corsini, to adjourn the regular Village Board of 
Trustees Meeting at 8:14 p.m.   
 
Roll call:   
  
Ayes:   Trustees Conti, Dwyer, Gibbs, Corsini, Colwell-Steinke, and Cargie 
Absent:   Trustees Colwell-Steinke, and Conti 
Nays:    None 
 
Motion Passes.  
 
 
 
    ____________________________________     
   Sharon Halperin, Village Clerk 

 
 
 
 



Village of River Forest 
Village Administrator’s Office  

400 Park Avenue 
River Forest, IL 60305 

Tel:  708-366-8500 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: January 6, 2017 
 
To: Catherine Adduci, Village President 
 Village Board of Trustees 
 
From: Eric J. Palm, Village Administrator 
 
Subj: Resolutions Recognizing Gerald Johnson and John Hagensick 
 ______________________________________________________________________________  
 
As you know in recent months both John Hagensick and Gerald Johnson retired from their 
respective Commissions with the Village.  Both were long serving members of these Commissions 
as well as residents for many years.  As such, we wanted to formally recognize them for their 
service to the community.   
 
Unfortunately, Mr. Hagensick recently passed away and we will be presenting this resolution to his 
wife posthumously honoring his service. 
 
Thank you. 
 
Attachments 
Resolution 



                                 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 17-01 
 

A RESOLUTION HONORING JOHN HAGENSICK POSTHUMOUSLY FOR HIS 
SERVICE ON THE TRAFFIC & SAFETY COMMISSION 

WHEREAS, John Hagensick has been an active member of the community of the Village of 
River Forest, 

WHEREAS, John Hagensick was a long time member of the River Forest Service Club, was 
honored by the Service Club in 2007 for his exceptional contributions to the organization and the 
community; and served as a Director of the organization from 2014-2016; and 

WHEREAS, John Hagensick was a former Scout Master of Troop #63, the Drum and Bugle 
Corps, where he is remembered for his dedication to hundreds of boys and their families, offering 
friendship and community leadership while providing opportunities for growth and education; and 

 WHEREAS, John Hagensick was the author of the book, “Carving Realistic Flowers;” and 

WHEREAS, John Hagensick served as a member of the River Forest Township Youth 
Committee; and 

WHEREAS, he also served as a member of the River Forest 125th Anniversary Committee; and 

WHEREAS, John Hagensick served as Chairman of the Traffic and Safety Commission from 
2007 to 2016 where he graciously served the public.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of the 
Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois that the Board, for its members and the citizens of the 
Village of River Forest, extend deepest and sincerest gratitude to John Hagensick, and posthumously 
present this Resolution to his family as a symbol of gratitude for the high quality of community service 
which he has rendered. 

Passed on a roll call vote of the Corporate Authorities on the 9th day of January, 2017. 

AYES:   Trustees Cargie, Colwell-Steinke, Conti, Corsini, Dwyer, and Gibbs 
NAYS:   None 
ABSENT:  None  

___________________________________
Sharon Halperin, Village Clerk 
 

APPROVED by me this 9th day of January, 2017 
 
___________________________________ 
Catherine Adduci, Village President 



                                 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 17-02 
 

A RESOLUTION HONORING GERALD JOHNSON FOR HIS SERVICE TO THE 
VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST ON THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 

WHEREAS, Gerald Johnson has served on the Village’s Plan Commission from 1982 to 
2016 (34 years), which also included more than seven terms as Chairman; and 

WHEREAS, Gerald Johnson was key in developing comprehensive plans for the Village 
including land usage, commercial development, public improvements; and 

 WHEREAS, Gerald Johnson also served on the Village’s Development Review Board and 
has contributed to numerous development projects throughout the Village;  

WHEREAS Gerald Johnson also provided leadership and guidance on numerous planning 
projects within the Village of River Forest, including the Lake Street Corridors Plan, and the 2010 
North Avenue Corridors Plan; and 

WHEREAS, Gerald Johnson has been an active member of the community and his 
contributions have helped shape River Forest to what it is today. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of 
the Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois that the Board, for its members and the citizens of 
the Village of River Forest, extend deepest and sincerest gratitude to Gerald Johnson, and present 
this Resolution to him as a symbol of gratitude for the high quality of community service which he 
has rendered. 

Passed on a roll call vote of the Corporate Authorities on the 9th day of January, 2017. 

AYES:   Trustees Cargie, Colwell-Steinke, Conti, Corsini, Dwyer, and Gibbs 
NAYS:   None 
ABSENT:  None 
  

 
Catherine Adduci, Village President 
 

APPROVED by me this 9th day of January, 2017 
 
 

Sharon Halperin, Village Clerk 
 



 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
DATE: January 9, 2017 
 
TO: Eric J. Palm, Village Administrator 
 
FROM: John Anderson, Director of Public Works 

 
SUBJECT: Authorization to Sell Surplus Property 
  
 
Issue/Analysis: Attached is a proposed Ordinance authorizing the sale of surplus property via 
public auction.  The following is a brief summary of the item to be sold: 
 
2001 Chevrolet Pickup Truck This vehicle has been used in the past for the use of valve 
operating equipment that was transported in the bed of the truck.  New valve operating 
equipment was recently purchased and is now housed on a trailer mounted system that can be 
pulled behind any pickup truck in the fleet.  This truck is no longer needed and is at the end of its 
useful life.  The driver’s seat is torn in multiple places, the brakes need replacement, the engine 
leaks oil, the lift gate is rusted, and the drivetrain and suspension are worn out.  Due to these 
mechanical issue and since the purpose of this vehicle is no longer needed we can no longer 
utilize this vehicle.  Accordingly, we are seeking to sell this vehicle, and have established a 
minimum purchase price of $1,000.00. 

 
Recommendation: Staff is proposing to sell this surplus property using an online auction 
service, such as Obenauf Online Auction Service, and recommend approval of the proposed 
Ordinance attached hereto.  We have used Obenauf previously and experienced positive results.  
If the Village Board concurs with Staff’s recommendation, the following motion would be 
appropriate: Motion to approve the attached Ordinance authorizing the sale of municipal surplus 
property by public auction.   
 

 



ORDINANCE NO.  
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE SALE BY INTERNET AUCTION OF 

MUNICIPAL PROPERTY OWNED BY THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST 

 
WHEREAS,  in the opinion of a majority of the Corporate Authorities of the Village of 

River Forest, it is no longer necessary or useful to or for the best interests of the Village of River 
Forest to retain ownership of the municipal property hereinafter described; and 

 
WHEREAS, it has been determined by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of River Forest on January 9, 2017, to sell said property by public auction on the Internet. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES  OF  THE  VILLAGE  OF  RIVER  FOREST,  COOK  COUNTY,  ILLINOIS,  as 
follows: 

 
Section 1:       Pursuant to Illinois Compiled Statues, Chapter 65, Section 5/11-76-4, the 

President and Board of Trustees of the Village of River Forest find that the following described 
property: 

 
 ITEM DESCRIPTION MINIMUM VALUE 
 

1. 
 

2001 Chevrolet Pickup Truck 
VIN# 1GCHK24U11E262104 

 

$1000.00 

 

 

now owned by the Village of River Forest is no longer necessary or useful to the Village of River 
Forest and the best interests of the Village will be served by its sale. 

 
Section 2:       Pursuant  to  said  Section  5/11-76-4,  the  Village  Administrator  or  his 

designee is hereby authorized and directed to sell the aforementioned municipal property, now 
owned by the Village of River Forest, by public auction on the Internet. 

 
Section 3:       The Village Administrator or his designate shall cause to be transferred 

any titles or other legal documents pursuant to the sale. 
 

Section 4        No bid shall be accepted for any of the above described property which is 
less than the minimum value set forth herein, unless the Village Administrator or his designee so 
authorizes. 

 
Section 5:       This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 

by a vote of a majority of the Corporate Authorities, approval and publication in pamphlet form 
as provided by law. 



 
Passed on a roll call vote of the Corporate Authorities on the 9th of January, 2017.  

 
 
  AYES:   
 
NAYS:   

ABSENT:  

 
ATTEST: 

 
 
 
 

      Catherine Adduci, Village President 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED by me this 9th day January, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 

     Sharon Halperin, Village Clerk 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED and FILED in my office this 10th day of January, 2017 and published in 
pamphlet form in the Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

 

 

January 10th, 2017  

 

STATE OF ILLINOIS} 
COUNTY OF COOK} 

 

I, Sharon L. Halperin, certify that I am the duly elected and acting municipal clerk of 
the Village of River Forest of Cook County, Illinois. 

I further certify that on January 9, 2017 the Corporate Authorities of such municipality 
passed and approved Ordinance No.         AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING 

THE SALE BY INTERNET AUCTION OF MUNICIPAL PROPERTY 

OWNED BY THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST which provided by its terms 
that is should be published in pamphlet form as provided by law. 
 

 

 

By:       
  Sharon L. Halperin, Village Clerk 

 



A Tradition of Service to the Community 

 

Village of River Forest 
 
 

POLICE DEPARTMENT MEMORANDUM 

 
TO:  Eric Palm- Village Administrator  
  

 FROM: Gregory Weiss- Chief of Police 
 

DATE: December 19, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Authorization to Sell Surplus Village Property 

 
Issue:  A 2009 Ford Crown Victoria, formerly used by the Police Department, has in 
excess of 86,000 miles on it and is beyond its usable service life. 
 
Analysis: The vehicle will be stripped of all emergency equipment. As such the 
Department has no further use for the vehicles.  

 
Recommendation: If the Village Board wishes to approve the authorization to sell the 
above mentioned vehicle, the following motion would be appropriate: 

 
 

Motion to approve an ordinance authorizing the sale by auction certain village 

owned vehicles, specifically: 

 

1. One 2009 Ford Crown Victoria, VIN #2FAHP71V49X141286 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE SALE BY INTERNET AUCTION OF 

MUNICIPAL PROPERTY OWNED BY THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST 

 
 WHEREAS, in the opinion of a majority of the Corporate Authorities of the Village of 
River Forest, it is no longer necessary or useful to or for the best interests of the Village of River 
Forest to retain ownership of the municipal property hereinafter described; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it has been determined by the President and Board of Trustees of the 
Village of River Forest on January 9, 2017 to sell said municipal property by public auction on 
the internet. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as 
follows: 
 
 Section 1: Pursuant to Illinois Compiled Statues, Chapter 65, Section 5/11-76-4, the 
President and Board of Trustees of the Village of River Forest find that the following described 
property: 
 
  ITEM DESCRIPTION   MINIMUM VALUE 
 
1. One 2009 Ford Crown Victoria     $ 500.00 

VIN# 2FAHP71V49X141286 
 
 
now owned by the Village of River Forest is no longer necessary or useful to the Village of River 
Forest and the best interests of the Village will be served by its sale. 
 
 Section 2: Pursuant to said Section 5/11-76-4, the Village Administrator or his 
designee is hereby authorized and directed to sell the aforementioned municipal property, now 
owned by the Village of River Forest.  
 
 Section 3: The Village Administrator or his designate shall cause to be transferred 
any titles or other legal documents pursuant to the sale. 
 
 Section 4: No bid shall be accepted for the above described property which is less 
than the minimum value set forth herein, unless the Village Administrator or his designee so 
authorizes.  
 
 Section 5: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
by a vote of a majority of the Corporate Authorities, approval and publication in pamphlet form 
as provided by law. 
 



  
 

Passed on a roll call vote of the Corporate Authorities on the________ day of  
 

_________________, 2017. 
 

AYES:  ___________________________________________________ 
 

NAYS: ___________________________________________________ 
 

ABSENT: _________________________________________________ 
 
 

 
 
ATTEST: 

 
____________________________________ 

            Village Clerk 
 
 

APPROVED by me this ________day of _______________, 2017. 
 
 

                    ___________________________________ 
             Village President 

 
APPROVED and FILED in my office this ________day of ______________, 2017. 
and published in pamphlet form in the Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 

 



Village of River Forest 
Village Administrator’s Office  

400 Park Avenue 
River Forest, IL 60305 

Tel:  708-366-8500 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: January 5, 2017 
 
To: Eric Palm, Village Administrator 
 
From: Lisa Scheiner, Assistant Village Administrator 
 
Subj: Special Service Area Number 10 - 7820 Madison Street (Promenade Townhomes) 
 ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Issue 
 
Pursuant to Ordinance Number 3615, which was passed by the Village Board of Trustees at its 
September 26, 2016, meeting, the Village Board will conducted a public hearing on December 
12, 2016 in regard to Special Service Area Number 10 (7820 W. Madison Street, River Forest).   
 
The Village Board is being asked to approve an Ordinance creating Special Service Area 10 in 
order to provide for the maintenance, repair, reconstruction and/or the replacement of the 
common areas of the Promenade Townhomes, including, but not limited to, the water mains 
and stormwater management improvements, in the event that the owners of the property fail 
to do so.  
 
Analysis 
 
The property located at 7820 W. Madison Street has an approved planned development 
permit for the construction of a 29-unit townhome development.  In addition to constructing 
the actual townhomes, the developer will also install certain utility systems including water, 
stormwater, and other common areas on the property.  It is anticipated that once the 
townhomes are sold and a homeowners’ association (“HOA”) is created, the HOA will be 
responsible for ensuring that the private portions of the utility systems and common areas are 
maintained.  Village Staff recommend implementation of a dormant Special Service Area 
(“SSA”) that would be activated and utilized as a financing tool to fund needed improvements 
to these common areas in the event that they are not properly maintained by the HOA.  
 
A SSA is a financing tool that can be used to fund municipal services/improvements in a 
defined area within the Village in which the property owners, but not the public at large, will 
benefit from the proposed special services and/or improvements.  In this case, the Village 
proposed a dormant (or back-up) SSA be established as there is no current need to levy a tax 



on the property owner(s) in the defined area.  In the event that a need arises due to lack of 
maintenance of common areas the SSA would be activated and used to pay for maintenance, 
repair, reconstruction and/or replacement.  Once activated, the Village would establish a tax 
rate not to exceed $2.3809 per $100.00 of EAV for the property in SSA 10, which is based on 
the cost of needed improvements, which is estimated to reach up to approximately $478,000.  
This amount would be levied and would appear on the property tax bill of each owner within 
the SSA for an established period of time (up to five years).  The property owner(s) can 
individually opt to pay the entire cost at one time instead. 
 
At this time there is only one property owner that would be impacted by the proposed SSA 
and that owner has waived the right to file an objection petition opposing the creation of SSA 
10 (Promenade Townhomes Project).  The waiver also requested that the Village approve the 
Ordinance creating the SSA and that it be recorded before the objection period expires.  
 
Pursuant to Section 3 of Ordinance 3615, notice of the public hearing was published in the 
Wednesday Journal on November 9, 2016, and mailed to the owner of the property located 
within the Special Service Area on November 4, 2016.  
 
Recommended Action 
 
That the Village Board adopt the attached Ordinance creating SSA 10.  
 
Attachment(s) 
 Ordinance 3615 Proposing the Establishment of Special Service Area Number 10 

(Promenade Townhomes Project) in the Village of River Forest and Providing for a 
Public Hearing and Other Procedures in Connection Therewith 

 Ordinance Establishing Village of River Forest Special Service Area Number 10 
(Promenade Townhomes Project) 

o Exhibit 1 - Certificate of Publication of Newspaper Notice 
o Exhibit 2 - Affidavit of Mailing of Personal Notice 
o Exhibit 3 - Map of Village of Village of River Forest Special Service Area 

Number 10 
o Exhibit 4 - Waiver of Right to File an Objection Petition Opposing the 

Creation of River Forest Special Service Area Number 10 (Promenade 
Townhomes Project) 



ORDINANCE NO. 3615

AN ORDINANCE PROPOSING THE ESTABLISHMENT OF SPECIAL SERVICE

AREA NUMBER 10 (PROMENADE TOWNHOMES PROJECT) IN THE VILLAGE OF

RIVER FOREST AND PROVIDING FOR A PUBLIC HEARING AND

OTHER PROCEDURES IN CONNECTION THEREWITH

BE IT ORDAINED by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of River

Forest, Cook County, Illinois, as follows:

SECTION 1: AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH SPECIAL SERVICE AREAS.

Special Service Areas within non-home rule municipalities are established pursuant to

Article VII, Section 7 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, and pursuant to the provisions

of the Special Service Area Tax Law, 35 ILCS 200/27-5, et seq.

SECTION 2: FINDINGS.

The Village Board finds:

A. It is in the public interest that the creation of the area hereinafter described as a

special service area, for the purposes set forth herein, be considered.

B. That the area hereinafter described is compact and contiguous, and is within the

C2 Commercial Zoning District zoning classification, subject to a Planned

Development granted in Ordinance 3564, in the Village of River Forest ( the

Village").

C. That the area hereinafter described will benefit specifically from the municipal

services to be provided, and that the proposed municipal services are unique and

in addition to municipal services provided to the Village as a whole, and it is,

therefore, in the best interests of the Village that the expenditure of funds by the

Village, and the levy of special taxes against said area, for the services to be

provided, be considered.

D. That the special services to be provided by the Village shall consist of the

maintenance, repair, reconstruction and/or replacement of the common areas,

including but not limited to the water mains and stormwater management

improvements, in the area described in Section 4 below, in the event that the

owner(s) of the area described in Section 4 below, fail to maintain, repair,

reconstruct and/or replace said common areas, including but not limited to the

water mains and stormwater management improvements, as required by:

i) The Village of River Forest Municipal Code; and



 2 

 
(ii) The Plat of Resubdivision for the Promenade Townhomes, recorded with the 

Cook County Recorder of Deeds on September 26, 2016 as document number 
1627045049; 

 
(the “Special Services”). 

 
 SECTION 3:  PUBLIC HEARING - TAX RATES. 
 

A. That a public hearing shall be held on the 12th day of December, 2016, at 7:00 
p.m., in the River Forest Village Hall, Board Room, 400 Park Avenue, River 
Forest, Illinois, to consider the creation of Special Service Area Number 10 of the 
Village in the area described in the notice of public hearing set forth in Section 4 
hereof (the “Public Hearing”). 

 
B. At said Public Hearing, the levy of a direct annual tax at a rate not to exceed 

$2.3809 per $100.00 of equalized assessed value of the property in Special 
Service Area Number 10, for each year during which the Village is required to 
expend funds relative to said Special Services, so long as the common areas, 
including but not limited to the water mains and stormwater management 
improvements, as referenced above, exist, will be considered.  

 
C. As taxes will not be levied until such time, if any, as the Village actually expends 

funds for said Special Services, it is currently unknown as to the actual amount of 
the taxes that will be levied for the initial year, if any, for which taxes will be 
levied within Special Service Area Number 10; however, any such initial tax levy 
shall not exceed the maximum tax rate as set forth in B. above. 

 
D. The aforementioned taxes shall be in addition to all other taxes provided by law 

and shall be levied pursuant to the provisions of the Property Tax Code (35 ILCS 
200/1-1, et seq.), as amended. 

 
 SECTION 4:  NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING. 
 
 Notice of the Public Hearing shall be published at least once not less than fifteen (15) 

days prior to the Public Hearing in one (1) or more newspapers of general circulation in the 

Village, and notice by mailing shall be given by depositing said notice in the U.S. mail addressed 

to the person or persons in whose name the general taxes for the last preceding year were paid on 

each lot, block, tract or parcel of land lying within the proposed Special Service Area Number 

10, with said notice by mailing being mailed not less than ten (10) days prior to the time set for 

the Public Hearing (the “Notice”). In the event taxes for the last preceding year were not paid, 



the Notice shall be sent to the person last listed on the tax rolls prior to that year as the owner of

said property. The Notice shall be in substantially the following form:

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST

SPECIAL SERVICE AREA NUMBER 10

NOTICE IS FIEREBY GIVEN that on December 12, 2016, at 7:00 p.m. in the River

Forest Village Hall, Board Room, 400 Park Avenue, River Forest, Illinois, a public hearing will

be held by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of River Forest to consider forming

a special service area consisting of the following described property:

LOT 17 (EXCEPT THE NORTH 36 FEET THEREOF) AND LOT 20 IN SAMUEL WATTS

SR. SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE

SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF

THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, (EXCEPT THE EAST 50 FEET THEREOF AND

EXCEPT THE RIGHT OF WAY OF THE CHICAGO AND WISCONSIN RAILWAY) IN

COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

AND

THAT PART OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF

SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL

MERIDIAN, LYING EASTERLY OF THE EASTERLY LINE OF LOTS 17 AND 20 AND

LYING WESTERLY OF A LINE 25 FEET EASTERLY OF THE EASTERLY LINES OF

SAID LOTS 17 AND 20, AS MEASURED PERPENDICULAR AND RADIAL THERETO,

SAID LOTS 17 AND 20 BEING IN SAMUEL WATTS, SR. SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST

HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION

12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,

ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED APRIL 2, 1910 AS DOCUMENT

4533770, AND LYING SOUTH OF THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 17, EXTENDED

EAST AND LYING NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 20, EXTENDED EAST,

IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.;

PINs: 15-12-313-007-0000,15-12-313-026-0000, 15-12-313-046-0000;

Street Location: Northeast corner of Madison Street and Forest Avenue in River Forest, Cook

County, Illinois;

Common Address: 7820 W. Madison Street, River Forest, Illinois.

All interested persons affected by the formation of River Forest Special Service Area Number 10

will be given an opportunity to be heard regarding the formation of and the boundaries of Special

Service Area Number 10 and may object to the formation of Special Service Area Number 10

and the levy of taxes affecting said Special Service Area Number 10.



 4 

The purpose of the formation of River Forest Special Service Area Number 10 is to fund the 
Village of River Forest’s cost of maintaining, repairing, reconstructing and/or replacing the 
common areas, including but not limited to the water mains and stormwater management 
improvements, on the above-described property, in the event that the owner(s) of the above-
described property fail to maintain, repair, reconstruct and/or replace said common areas, 
including but not limited to the water mains and stormwater management improvements, as 
required by: 

 
(i) The Village of River Forest Municipal Code; and 
 
(ii) The Plat of Resubdivision for the Promenade Townhomes, recorded with the Cook 

County Recorder of Deeds on September 26, 2016 as document number 1627045049; 
 
(hereinafter the “Special Services”), within said Special Service Area Number 10. 
 
A tax levy at a rate not to exceed $2.3809 per $100.00 of equalized assessed valuation of 
property in Special Service Area Number 10, for each year during which the Village of River 
Forest is required to expend funds relative to said Special Services, so long as the stormwater 
management improvements and/or roadway/sidewalk improvements, as referenced above, exist, 
will be considered at the public hearing. As taxes will not be levied until such time, if any, as the 
Village actually expends funds for said Special Services, it is currently unknown as to the actual 
amount of the taxes that will be levied for the initial year, if any, for which taxes will be levied 
within Special Service Area Number 10; however, any such initial tax levy shall not exceed the 
maximum tax rate as set forth above. Said tax is to be levied upon all taxable property within the 
proposed Special Service Area Number 10.  
 
At the public hearing, all persons affected by the formation of said Special Service Area Number 
10, including all persons owning taxable real estate therein, will be given an opportunity to be 
heard. The public hearing may be adjourned by the President and Board of Trustees to another 
date without further notice, other than a motion, to be entered upon the minutes of its meeting, 
fixing the time and place of its adjournment and/or as otherwise required by law. 
 
If a petition signed by at least fifty-one (51%) of the electors residing within Special Service 
Area Number 10 and by at least fifty-one (51%) of the owners of record of the land included 
within the boundaries of Special Service Area Number 10 is filed with the Village Clerk, within 
sixty (60) days following the final adjournment of the public hearing, objecting to the creation of 
Special Service Area Number 10, the enlargement thereof, the levy or imposition of a tax for the 
provision of the Special Services to the area, or to a proposed increase in the tax rate, said 
Special Service Area Number 10 may not be created or enlarged, and no tax may be levied or 
imposed nor the rate increased. 
 
DATED this 1stth day of November, 2016 
. 
       Sharon Halperin 
       Village Clerk 
       Village of River Forest” 

 



SECTION 5:

This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and approval as

provided by law.

ADOPTED this 26t!l day of September, 2016, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:

AYES: Trustees Cargie, Colwell-Steinke, Conti, Corsini, Dwyer, and Gibbs

NAYS: None

ABSENT: None

APPROVED by me this 26th day of September, 2016.

Catherine Atofci, VillagePresident

ATTEST:

Sharon Halperin, Village Clerk



INCORPORATED188O

RIVERFOREST
I'foucl flwituge

Bright Fiiturc

September 26, 2016

STATE OF ILLINOIS}

COUNTY OF COOK}

I, Sharon Halperin, certify that I am the duly elected municipal clerk of the Village of River

Forest of Cook County, Illinois.

I further certify that on September 26, 2016, the Corporate Authorities of such municipality

passed and approved Ordinance No. 3615, AN ORDINANCE PROPOSING THE

ESTABLISHMENT OF SPECIAL SERVICE AREA NUMBER 10 ( PROMENADE

TOWNHOMES PROJECT) IN THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST AND

PROVIDING FOR A PUBLIC HEARING AND OTHER PROCEDURES IN

CONNECTION THEREWITH which provided by its terms that is should be published in

pamphlet form as provided by law.

By:

Sharon Halperin, Village Clerk



ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST  
SPECIAL SERVICE AREA NUMBER 10 (PROMENADE TOWNHOMES PROJECT) 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of River 

Forest, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 SECTION 1:  AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH SPECIAL SERVICE AREAS. 
 
 Special Service Areas within non-home rule municipalities are established pursuant 

to Article VII, Section 7 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, and pursuant to the 

provisions of the Special Service Area Tax Law, 35 ILCS 200/27-5, et seq. 

SECTION 2:  FINDINGS. 
 

The Village Board finds:  
 

A. The question of the establishment of the area hereinafter described as a 
special service area was considered by the President and Board of Trustees 
(the “Village Board”) pursuant to an Ordinance entitled: “An Ordinance 
Proposing the Establishment of Special Service Area Number 10 (Promenade 
Townhomes Project) in the Village of River Forest and providing for a Public 
Hearing and Other Procedures in Connection Therewith,” adopted September 
26, 2016, and was considered pursuant to a hearing held on December 12, 
2016, by the Village Board pursuant to a Newspaper Notice duly published in 
Wednesday Journal, a newspaper of general circulation in the Village of River 
Forest (the “Village”), at least fifteen (15) days prior to the hearing, and 
pursuant to Personal Notice by mail addressed to the person or persons in 
whose name the general taxes for the last preceding year were paid on each 
lot, block, tract or parcel of land lying within the special service area. Said 
Personal Notice by mail was given by depositing said Personal Notice in the 
United States mails not less than ten (10) days prior to the time set for the 
public hearing.  In the event taxes for the last preceding year were not paid, 
the said Personal Notice was sent to the person last listed on the tax rolls 
prior to that year as the owner of said property.  A Certificate of Publication 
of said Newspaper Notice and an Affidavit of Mailing of said Personal Notice 
are attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 2, respectively, and 
made part hereof. Said Newspaper Notice and Personal Notice conformed in 
all respects to the requirements of Section 27-25 of the Special Service Area 
Tax Law (35 ILCS 200/27-25). 

 



B. That a public hearing on the question set forth in the Newspaper Notice and 
Personal Notice was held on December 12, 2016.  All interested persons were 
given an opportunity to be heard on the question of the creation of the 
special service area, and the levy of an annual tax to pay for the proposed 
Special Services (as defined in Section 4 below), as set forth in the 
Newspaper Notice and Personal Notice.  The public hearing was opened on 
December 12, 2016, and there was final adjournment thereof on December 
12, 2016, as part of the regular River Forest Village Board meeting on said 
date. 

 
C. That after considering the data, as presented at the public hearing, the Village 

Board finds that it is in the public interest and in the interest of the Village of 
River Forest Special Service Area Number 10 that said special service area, as 
hereinafter described, be established. 

 
D.  Said area is compact and contiguous and exists in a Planned Development 

Permit area under the C2 Commercial Zoning District in the Village. 
 
E. It is in the best interest of said special service area that the furnishing of the 

municipal services proposed be considered for the common interests of said 
area. 

 
F. Said area is zoned with a Planned Development Permit under the C2 

Commercial Zoning District and will benefit specially from municipal services 
proposed to be provided.  The proposed municipal services are unique and in 
addition to the municipal services provided to the Village as a whole. 

 
SECTION 3:  VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST SPECIAL SERVICE AREA NUMBER 10 

ESTABLISHED. 
 
A special service area to be known and designated as “Village of River Forest Special 
Service Area Number 10” (“Special Service Area Number 10”) is hereby established and 
shall consist of the following-described territory: 
 

LOT 17 (EXCEPT THE NORTH 36 FEET THEREOF) AND LOT 20 IN SAMUEL WATTS 
SR. SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE 
SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST 
OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, (EXCEPT THE EAST 50 FEET THEREOF AND 
EXCEPT THE RIGHT OF WAY OF THE CHICAGO AND WISCONSIN RAILWAY) IN 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 
 AND 

 
THAT PART OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, LYING EASTERLY OF THE EASTERLY LINE OF LOTS 17 AND 20 AND 



LYING WESTERLY OF A LINE 25 FEET EASTERLY OF THE EASTERLY LINES OF SAID 
LOTS 17 AND 20, AS MEASURED PERPENDICULAR AND RADIAL THERETO, SAID 
LOTS 17 AND 20 BEING IN SAMUEL WATTS, SR. SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST HALF 
OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, 
TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED APRIL 2, 1910 AS DOCUMENT 
4533770, AND LYING SOUTH OF THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 17, EXTENDED 
EAST AND LYING NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 20, EXTENDED EAST, 
IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS; 
 
PINs:  15-12-313-007-0000, 15-12-313-026-0000, 15-12-313-046-0000; 

 
Street Location: Northeast corner of Madison Street and Forest Avenue in 
River Forest, Cook County, Illinois;  
 
Common Address: 7820 W. Madison Street, River Forest, Illinois. 

 
(the “Subject Property”). 
 
An accurate map of the Subject Property is attached hereto as Exhibit 3, and made part 
hereof. 
 

SECTION 4:  PURPOSE OF THE AREA. 
 

Special Service Area Number 10 is established to provide special municipal services 
to the Subject Property in addition to services provided to the Village generally.  Included 
in said services shall be the funding of the Village’s cost of maintaining, repairing, 
reconstructing and/or replacing the common areas on the Subject Property, including but 
not limited to the water mains and stormwater management improvements, on the Subject 
Property, in the event that the owner(s) of the Subject Property fail to maintain, repair, 
reconstruct and/or replace said common areas, including but not limited to the water 
mains and stormwater management improvements, as required by: 

 
(i) The Village of River Forest Municipal Code; and 

(ii) The Plat of Resubdivision for the Promenade Townhomes, recorded with the 
Cook County Recorder of Deeds on September 26, 2016 as document number 
1627045049; 

 
(the “Special Services”), within said Special Service Area Number 10. 
 
In the event that the Village is required to expend funds relative to said Special Services, 
the Village shall levy a direct annual tax at a rate not to exceed $2.3809 per $100.00 of 
equalized assessed valuation of property in Special Service Area Number 10, for each year 
during which the Village is required to expend funds relative to said Special Services, so 
long as the common areas, as referenced above, exist.  As taxes will not be levied until such 



time, if any, as the Village actually expends funds for said Special Services, it is currently 
unknown as to the actual amount of the taxes that will be levied for the initial year, if any, 
for which taxes will be levied within Special Service Area Number 10; however, any such 
initial tax levy shall not exceed the maximum tax rate as set forth above. Said tax is to be 
levied upon all taxable property within the Special Service Area Number 10, and shall be in 
addition to all other taxes provided by law. 
 

SECTION 5:  EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

The Village is in receipt of a “Waiver of Right to File an Objection Petition Opposing 
the Creation of Special Service Area Number 10 (Promenade Townhomes Project),” a copy 
of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 4 and made part hereof.  As such, and as there are no 
electors residing within the Subject Property, and as 7820 Madison, LLC is the only owner 
of the Subject Property, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 
adoption, approval and publication in pamphlet form as required by law.   

 
SECTION 6:  FILING AND RECORDING OF ORDINANCE. 
 
The Village Clerk is hereby directed and ordered to file a certified copy of this 

Ordinance with the Cook County Clerk, and record a certified copy of this Ordinance with 
the Cook County Recorder’s Office, within sixty (60) days of the effective date hereof. 

 
 ADOPTED this 12th day of December, 2016, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 

 AYES: ____________________________________________________ 
 
 NAYS:____________________________________________________ 
 
 ABSENT:__________________________________________________ 
 
 
 APPROVED by me this 12th day of December, 2016, 
 
 
          
       ________________________________________ 
       Catherine Adduci, Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________________ 
Sharon Halperin, Village Clerk  

 
 

 



 
 

Exhibit 1 
 

Certificate of Publication 
of Newspaper Notice  

 
(attached) 

 
 
 



State of Illinois 
County of Cook. 
Oak Park, Illinois 

I, Dan Haley do hereby certify that I am one of the publishers of 
the WEDNESDAY JOURNAL, a secular DC'.'.'Spaper, published by WEDNESDAY 
JOURNAL, INC., of Oak Parle, County of Cook and in the State ofOiinois for more than 
one year prior to this date. 

_ ______ N.!.J.l.!.ov!..!em~b:...er!...9._.. _ _____ __ A.D. 2.QlQ 

1 do further certify that the said WEDNESDA V JOURNAL has btltm a secular 
newspaper of general circulation throughout the Villages of Oak Park & River Forest, 
Coole County, Dlinois for more than one 'year past, and i~ in compliance with Dlinois 
revised Statute, Chapter 1 00. 

1 do further certify that the printed notice re: NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
VTLLAGE OF RIVER FOREST SPECIAL SERVICE AREA NUMBER 10 

attached hereto is a true, perfect and complete copy of the notice which was 
publishod in the said WEDNESDAY JOURNAL in each and every copy of its issue 
dated: 

November 9 
A.D. 2016 
A.D. 2016 
A.D. 2016 

I do further certify that I am duly authorized by said WEDNESDAY JOURNAL, INC. to 
make this certificate and affidavil 

One ofthe publishers 

Sworn and subscribed to me this _ __ __;9~th!!.._ _______ _ 

day of -----------~N"'ouv..,em""b,.,er'-!-------,.-r--- A.D. 2016 

/~~ /} ~)--.. •' 
I........./ N!.ary Pubhf 

O !=FfCIAL SEAL 
LAURA J . MYERS 

~:~~r::,~:1L010CE. STATE OF ll tltiOIS 
J;IUU 0~1. 9. 2020 





 
 

Exhibit 2 
 

Affidavit of Mailing 
of Personal Notice 

 
(attached) 

 



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) ss 

COUNTY OF COOK ) 

AFFIDAVIT OF MAILING 

I, (,j~ ~ei t1e.Y being first duly sworn on oath, depose and state that I servl'd the 
attached "NOTICE OF PUBUC HEARING VILJ.AG6 OF RIVER FOREST SPECIAL SERVICE 
AREA NUMBER lOA to those persons and entities set forth on the attached Service List, by 
depositing one (1} copy addressed to each personjentity at the addresses as shown on the 
attached Service List in the U.S. Mail, First Class postage prepaid, at 400 Park Avenue, River 
Forest, Illinois, at or before 5:00p.m. on November 4, 2016. 



Page 1 of 3 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST 

SPECIAL SERVICE AREA NUMBER 10 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that on December 12, 2016, at 7:00 p.m. in the 
River Forest Village Hall, Board Room, 400 Park Avenue, River Forest, 
Illinois, a public hearing will be held by the President and Board of Trustees 
of the Village of River Forest to consider forming a special service area 
consisting of the following described property: 
 
LOT 17 (EXCEPT THE NORTH 36 FEET THEREOF) AND LOT 20 IN SAMUEL 
WATTS SR. SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST 
QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 
NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, (EXCEPT 
THE EAST 50 FEET THEREOF AND EXCEPT THE RIGHT OF WAY OF THE 
CHICAGO AND WISCONSIN RAILWAY) IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.  

 
AND  

 
THAT PART OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER 
OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING EASTERLY OF THE EASTERLY LINE OF LOTS 
17 AND 20 AND LYING WESTERLY OF A LINE 25 FEET EASTERLY OF THE 
EASTERLY LINES OF SAID LOTS 17 AND 20, AS MEASURED 
PERPENDICULAR AND RADIAL THERETO, SAID LOTS 17 AND 20 BEING IN 
SAMUEL WATTS, SR. SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST 
QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 
NORTH RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING 
TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED APRIL 2, 1910 AS DOCUMENT 4533770, 
AND LYING SOUTH OF THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 17, EXTENDED EAST 
AND LYING NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 20, EXTENDED EAST, 
IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.;  
 

 PINs:  15-12-313-007-0000, 15-12-313-026-0000, 15-12-313-046-0000; 
 
Street Location: Northeast corner of Madison Street and Forest Avenue in 
River Forest, Cook County, Illinois;  
 

 Common Address: 7820 W. Madison Street, River Forest, Illinois. 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 

All interested persons affected by the formation of River Forest Special Service Area 
Number 10 will be given an opportunity to be heard regarding the formation of and the 
boundaries of Special Service Area Number 10 and may object to the formation of Special 
Service Area Number 10 and the levy of taxes affecting said Special Service Area Number 
10.  
 
The purpose of the formation of River Forest Special Service Area Number 10 is to fund the 
Village of River Forest’s cost of maintaining, repairing, reconstructing and/or replacing the 
common areas, including but not limited to the water mains and stormwater management 
improvements, on the above-described property, in the event that the owner(s) of the 
above-described property fail to maintain, repair, reconstruct and/or replace said common 
areas, including but not limited to the water mains and stormwater management 
improvements, as required by: 
 
(i) The Village of River Forest Municipal Code; and 

 
(ii) The Plat of Resubdivision for the Promenade Townhomes, recorded with the Cook 

County Recorder of Deeds on September 26, 2016 as document number 
1627045049; 

 
(hereinafter the “Special Services”), within said Special Service Area Number 10. 
 
A tax levy at a rate not to exceed $2.3809 per $100.00 of equalized assessed valuation of 
property in Special Service Area Number 10, for each year during which the Village of River 
Forest is required to expend funds relative to said Special Services, so long as the 
stormwater management improvements and/or roadway/sidewalk improvements, as 
referenced above, exist, will be considered at the public hearing. As taxes will not be levied 
until such time, if any, as the Village actually expends funds for said Special Services, it is 
currently unknown as to the actual amount of the taxes that will be levied for the initial 
year, if any, for which taxes will be levied within Special Service Area Number 10; however, 
any such initial tax levy shall not exceed the maximum tax rate as set forth above. Said tax 
is to be levied upon all taxable property within the proposed Special Service Area Number 
10.  
 
At the public hearing, all persons affected by the formation of said Special Service Area 
Number 10, including all persons owning taxable real estate therein, will be given an 
opportunity to be heard. The public hearing may be adjourned by the President and Board 
of Trustees to another date without further notice, other than a motion, to be entered upon 
the minutes of its meeting, fixing the time and place of its adjournment and/or as otherwise 
required by law. 
 



Page 3 of 3 
 

If a petition signed by at least fifty-one (51%) of the electors residing within Special Service 
Area Number 10 and by at least fifty-one (51%) of the owners of record of the land 
included within the boundaries of Special Service Area Number 10 is filed with the Village 
Clerk, within sixty (60) days following the final adjournment of the public hearing, 
objecting to the creation of Special Service Area Number 10, the enlargement thereof, the 
levy or imposition of a tax for the provision of the Special Services to the area, or to a 
proposed increase in the tax rate, said Special Service Area Number 10 may not be created 
or enlarged, and no tax may be levied or imposed nor the rate increased. 
 
DATED this 1stth day of November, 2016. 
 
 
     Sharon Halperin 
     Village Clerk 
     Village of River Forest 



~· 

400 Park AV<Du< River i'ON;sl, IL 60305 

FOREST MADISON LLC 
400 ASHLAND AVE 
RIVER FOREST, IL 60305 

~o"'""t"',.i( :n;. r ....... ~ 
i 1/04/:2016 
US POSTAGE 

FIRSl-Ol.ASS M.6.•L 

$00.46~ 
Z1P60305 

041L1022411S 



 
SERVICE LIST 

 
 
Forest Madison LLC 
400 Ashland Avenue 
River Forest, Illinois 60305



 
 

Exhibit 3 
 

Map of 
Village of River Forest 

Special Service Area Number 10 
 

(attached) 
 
 
 



L 

• 
0 

0 

(bO.OO') 

- ·- x--

(50.00') 

100.00' 
LOT 

L ·OT 

-----'- --- - - - -- - - - -- - - - - --- -----

LEGEND i 

lROJ'J MONUMENT. FOUND 

. IRON MONUMENT' S€T · 
(PLS 35-2551) 

CONCRETE MONUMENT 

RECORD DIMENSION 

FENCE liNE 

EASEMENT LINE 

RECORD DIMENSION 

PROPOSED LOT ~IMENSION 

EXISTING LOT NUMBER 

' 
PROPOSED LO_r N~MBER 

i 

'~ ·,· 

w 

IRON PIPe 

j 

.::, .,. 

56.39' 

STATE OF IWNOIS 

COVNTY OF COOK 

RECORDER'S CERTIFICA lE 

THIS INSlRUNENT NO. WAS FILED FOR RECORD IN 
THE RECOfl0£R'S OFI'ICE OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS AFORESAID ON THIS 

DAY OF . A.D .. 2D ___ _ 
AT 

STAlE OF IWNOIS 

COUNTY OF COOK 

O'CLOCK __N, 

RECORDER OF DEEDS 

£l!INTY ClERK CERTIFlCA lE 

I, COUNTY CLER~ Of' COOK COUNTY. 
IWNOIS, 00 HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THERE ARE NO OEUNllUENT GENERAL 
TAXES, NO UNPAID FORFEllEO TAXES, At<O NO REO£EIIA9LE TAX SALES 

·. ACAINST ANY OF THE LAND INCLUDED IN THE ANNEXED PlAT. 

G!V£N UNO£R MY HANO ANO SEAL AT CHICAGO, coi:ll< . CouNTY, ILLINOIS. 
lHIS DAY OF - A.O. 20 __ _ 

15.00' 

00'05'40 
\ 
I 

COUNTY ClERK 

--

LOT// 

~// 
885 SQ.FT. 

-----

68.00' ... ......... 
N 00'00'00" E 

- --~. CARRADUS 
= 

w N oo·oo'oo" E w 
60.00' ... ......... ... .. . ......... 

N 00'00'00" E 

~ 20.9.3' 

. IR~P!Pe ,)-

CR05515 ct.iL.INe & ~.00' ~Sf_/ 

• 
:08 
-C!O 
·oo 
:NQ 

"' :z~ 40.42' 

• 
b8 0 • 

d ~ 
N 0 

"' z - 60.00' 

--··-- -----FOREST- ---- ~----- ----

-
LOT 17 {EXCEPT THE NORTH 36 FEET THEREOF) AND LOT 20 IN SAMUEL WATTS SR. SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST HALF' OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF' THE 
SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, (EXCEPT THE F.AST 50 FEET THEREOF AND 
EXCEPT THE RIGHT OF WAY OF THE CHICAGO AND WISCONSIN RAILWAY) IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

ALSO 

THAT PART OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF TH£ THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
LYING EASTERLY OF THE EASTERLY LINE OF LOTS 17 AND 20 AND LYING WESTERLY OF A LINE 25 F'EET EASTERLY OF' THE EASTERLY LINES OF SAID LOTS 17 
AND 20, AS MEASURED PERPENDICULAR AND RADIAL THERETO, SAID LOTS 17 AND 20 BEING IN SAMUEL WATTS SR. SUBDIVISION Of THE EAST HALf OF THE 
SOUTHWEST QUARTER .. OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL ME:RIDIAN, ACCORDING 
TO THE PLAT THEREOF' RECORDED APRIL 2, 1910 AS DOCUMENT 4533770, AND LYING SOUTH OF' THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 17, EXTENDED EAST AND LYING 
NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 20, EXTENDED EAST, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

AREA OF SITE " 85,158 SQ.FT. (1.95 ACRES) 

_!iOTE: 
FOR BOUNDARY SURVEY INFORMATION OF PARCELS IN THE 
EXISTING LEG AL DESCRIPTION SEE DETAIL _ON SHEET 2 OF 4. 

ALL LOT LINES OF LOTS 1 THRU 29 FORM AN ANGLE OF 
90'00'00". FOR INDIVIDUAL DIMMENSIONS OF LOTS 
1 THRU 29 SEE SHEET 3. 

-
---------- 7 -

20.97' 

-

3· LOT W_ oo·o4'12" w1 

/ 2 !. W 1s:oo· 

': 3= 
• 

·o '!I 
-.t: -...-~ 

" f' .. ~ 

w 
• 0. 
!'8 
~ci 
0 N 

"' 

., 
If' 

-"' 

N 00'00'00" f. 

LOT 

~ 
883 SQ.FT. 

N 00'00'00" F. w 

40.42' 

• 
"g:8 .: o 
0·0 
N:o _j;_. 

.. ....... ~.Q.~~: . l .. " .... " ... ... 
S 00'50 06' E 

OUTLOT A • 80,189 SQ.FT. 
(1.38 ACRES) 

.. ~.~'~9.' ................. .. 
N oo·oo·oo~ E 

'90.28' 

(414.00') 
N oo·oo·oo" E 

M:Ja:-.,- 414 .!!> ' 

N 00'00'00" E 

LOT 

»!~ 
883 SQ.FT. 

LOT 

0;JK 
848 SQ.FT. 

LOT 

~..1!-
848 SQ.FT. 

LOT 

::1;JK' 
850 SQ.FT. 

w 
• 0. 
0 :0 
"o ·o o :o b·N _;r_ 

40.42' 

'"*" '(,\ 
~- ·- ---- -- - -- - - ---- - --- - ~---- --- - ---

~"' 

68.00' 

N oo·oo·oo" E 

68.00' .. ....... .... ·····--·!/ 
N 00'00'00" E 

"60.00' ............... .. ' 

N 00'00'00" E 

60.00' 

:0 
· 0 :o 
·"' 

-1~ 

50 SQ.FT. ! 

40.42' 

Q : 
0 . 

~ ; 

21.24' .-.:. 

QWS51S 2.00' SOUl\1 & 6.00' \\1:51" _____..+ 

---- -- --- -- -- -.AVE N U£--~ 

LAND SUR'o£YOR'S AUTHORIZATION 
FOR EASEMENT PROVISIONS 

SEE SHEET 4 OF 4 
i 

NOTES . 

STATE OF ILUNOIS ) 
ss 

COUNTY OF DUPAGE ) 

I 
cCNC~re MONUMENf 

1 
GR055 1S 1.68' SOUl\1 
• o.~B' \\1:51" j 

UJ 

1. All distonC<e'S shown hereQn ore in fe~t en d decimo! p<:~d~ tr•ereof c6rr ec:te0 to 68' L 
Di;;tonc:es sh own olony cur ved lines Qr+l Arr~ MeasurE;rtlen t~ uni<JS S o therwise noted. 

2. Cc-rnpor~! th e Legal Descrip.t ion, Buildin g Un es, ond Eosemcntc, os sl-,o wn hereon with 

I, ALJ.EN D. CARRAOUS, AN IWN01S PROFESSIONAL LAND SUR'o£YOR OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, 
LICENSE NUMBER 35-2551, 00 HEREBY AUTHORIZE THE VILLAGE OF Rl'o£R FOREST, COOK COUNTY, 
ILUNOIS, ITS STAI'F OR AUTHORIZED AGENT, TO PLACE THIS DOCUMENT OF RECORD IN. THE COUNTY 
RECORDER'S OFFICE, IN My NAME, AND IN COMPLIANCE 'MTH ILLINOIS STATUTES CHAPTER 109 
PARAGRAPH 2, AS AMENDED. 

PLAT SUBMI"ffiO FOR RECORDING BY: 
""'Oil..~@lrrg @IF IRJO""'[[;lO'IJ ll'@ll'illl!<~u 

400 PARK AVENUE 

· PREPARED F'OB;_ 
®~IRl~INI'\1'~ ~~©OY ~ Yffil~, ~" Y©. 

.7 1 D HIGGIN S ROAD 

Fl~fd1 evt~:k : 12/05/14 Orown By: CMC 
y<;tJ f Deed. Tit le Insurance Poli{;y ?f l"i tl € Com m i tme"t. Scaln: 'I,, = 20' Che<:k~d a)'". EAC 

3. Ct-nsul t I¢C'll outhorilie~ for od<J i l ioncil selboclo:s ond re!!l rk:lion:> no\ !lhuvm tH~reon . 

4. Cc:·rnoore ol: survey point s and report ony dis cr101p on ci~s irnm e<Jio tefy. 
SIGNED AT 'M-IEATON, ILLINOIS 11-IIS - -- - ---- ·DAY OF ----·--- A.D. 20~ fld"llk p9, ---48_ 00 Approv~ d: --Abc 

P.I.N. 15-12-313-026 
15-12-313-007 

STAlE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF COOK 

O~ER'S CERTIFICAlE 

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT ~TH:E~U~N~O£R~Sl~GN~ED~,;:;;:;;;~:;;;;;:;;::;:;;:::;:;:;;;:;; 
ARE THE OWNERS OF lHE LAND DESCRIBEO IN THE ANNEXED PLAT, ~.NO THAT 
THEY HA'of.: CAUSED THE SAM£ TO llE S<JRV£'tro AND SU901\10EO, loS INDICATED 
THEREON, FOR THE USES AND 1'\JRf'OSES THEREIN SET FORTH, AND DOES 
HEREBY ACKNO'IUDOE AND AOOPT THE SAME UNDER THE STYLE ANO Til\.E 
THEREON INDICA lEO. 

¥.£ HEREBY OEOICA lE FOR PUBLIC USE THE LANDS SHO'M< ON THIS PLAT FOR 
THOROUGHFARES, STREETS, ALLEYS, AND PU8UC SERVICES; AND WE HEREBY 
ALSO RESER 'IE THESE AREAS DESIGN A lEO HEREON AS EASEMENTS FOR THE 
PURPOSES AS HEREIN SET FORlH. 

WE AlSO CERTIFY THAT THE PROPERTY OESCRII!!:O Hf;REON IS 1\Hli!N THE 
BOONOARIES OF SGHOOL DISTRICT NOS. 90 & 200 

DAlEO THIS -"--- DAY OF -------• A.O. 20 __ _ 

BY: ----'-'---==-------
O'I!NER 

B~ -----~--~==---------O~ER 

STAlE OF IWNOIS l 
55 

COUNTY Of' COOK 

NOTARY"S CERTIFlCAlE 

DAlE 

DAlE 

I, - A NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 
SAID COUNTY, IN THE STAlE AFORESAID, 00 HEREBY CSITIFY THAT 
==-==--==,--,==-====-=--::, IS PERSONAllY KN0\\1>1 TO ME 
TO BE THE SAME PERSON WHOS< NAME IS SUBSCRIBED ro THE FOREGOING 
INSTRUMENT, AND HAS APPEARED BEI'ORE ME THIS DAY IN PERSON AND 
ACKNO¥UDGE1> THAT HE HAS SIGNED ANO OEUV!:REO THE SAID INSTRUMENT . 
AS HIS 0\!N FREE AND IJOLUNTARY ACT FOil THE USES AND PURPOSES 
THEREIN SET FORTH. 

GIV£N UNO£R MY HAND AND NOTARIAL SEAL THTH~IS:..:=---- DAY OF 
A.D .. 20_ 

NOTARY PUBLIC: --'------------
MY COIAMISSION EXPIRES: ___________ _ 

STATE OF ILUNOIS ) 
) ss 

COUNTY OF DU PAGE) 

SUR'o£YOR'S CERTIFICATE 

.THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT I, ALLEN D. CARRADUS, IWNOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND 
SUR'o£YOR NO. 35-2e51, UNDER THE DIRECTION OF THE OWNER. AS SHOWN 
HEREON, HA'o£ SUR'o£'\'F.D, SUBDIVIDED, AND PLATTED THE FOLLO'MNG DESCRIBED 
PROPERTY: 

LOT 17 (EXCEPT THE NORTH 36 FEET THEREOF) AND LOT 20 IN SAMUEL WATTS 
SR. SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST HAlF OF THE SOUTH\\t:ST QUARTER OF THE 
SOUTH\\t:ST QUARTER Of SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, (EXCEPT THE EAST 50 FEET THEREOF AND EXCEPT 
THE RIGHT OF WAY OF THE CHICAGO AND 'MSCONSIN RAILWAY) IN COOK COUNTY, 
ILUNOIS. 

ALSO: 

THAT PART OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 
12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, L'nNG 
EASTERLY OF THE EASTERLY LINE OF LOTS 17 AND 20 AND L '!1NG WESTERLY OF A 
LINE 25 FEET EASTERLY OF THE EASTERLY LINES OF SAID LOTS 17 AND 20, AS 
MEASURED PERPENDICULAR AND RADIAL THERETO, SAID LOTS 17 AND 20 BEING IN 
SAMUEl WATTS SR. SUBDIVISION OF THE EAST HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER 
OF THE SOUTH\\t:ST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12, 
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF 
RECORDED APRIL 2, 191D AS DOCUMENT 4533770, AND L 'nNG SOUTH OF THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 17, EXTENDED EAST AND L 'nNG NORTH Of THE SOUTH ·· 
UNE OF SAID LOT 20, EXTENDED EAST, IN COOK COUNTY, ILUNOIS . 

I fURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE PLAT HEREON DRAWN IS A TRUE AND CORRECT 
·REPRESENTATION OF SAID SUR'o£Y AND SUBDIVISION. AND THAT THE MONUMENTS 
AND MARKERS 'MLL BE PLACED AS SHOWN HEREON UPON COMPLETION OF ALL 
EXCAVATION. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE GIVEN IN FEET AND DECIMAL PARTS .THEREOF 
AND CORREC'l!D TO 68 DECREES FAHRENHEIT, AND ANY BEARINGS SHOWN 
HEREON ARE FOR THE PURPOSES OF DESCRIPTION ONLY. 

I fURTHER CERTIFY rHA T THE FORGOING PROPERTY FALLS 'MTHIN THE CORPORATE 
LIMITS OF, THE VILLAGE OF Rl'o£R FOREST 'M-IlCH HAS ADOPTED A VILLAGE PLAN 
AND IS l/:xtRCISING THE SPECIAL POWER AUTHORIZED BY DIVISION 12 OF A TRICLE 11 
OF THE ILLiNOIS MUNICIPAL CODE AS AMENDED. 

I fURTHER CERTIFY THAT NO PART OF THE ABO'-£ PROPERTY IS LOCATED 'MTHIN -· 
A SPECIAL FtOOO HAZARO AREA AS IDENTIFIED BY THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY 
MANAGEMENT AGENCY. FtOOD INSURACE RATE MAP. PANEL NO. 17031 C 0389 J 
EFFECTI'o£ DATE Of AUGUST 19, 2008, ZONE X. 

DATED AT v.t!EATON, ILUNOIS, THIS Z4-/-b. DAY OF !Jlorcb 
A.D. _ f'. Of(e • 

~12.C~-
ALLEN D. CARRADUS 

IUJNOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SUR'o£YOR NO. J~-2551 
MY LICENSE EXPIRES NO'o£MBER 30, 2016 

RESUBDIVISION FOR THE PROMENADE TOWNHOMES 
"1820 MADISON STREET, RIVER FOREST 

COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

Sheet 

5. Ccnsult u ti lity companies ond muriicip oli ties prior to the storl. of any construction , 

6. Oir·'len sion s to ond along bvil dings' ore 'l""l:terior foun dation measurements. 

IIJ.INOIS "PR'ofe:ssiONAL LAND suR-.£YOR NO. 35-2551 

RIVER FOREST, lll!NOIS 60305 
(708) 366-8500 

PARK RIDGE, ILLINOIS 60068 
(847) 292-5757 

fREPAF!£D BY: 
«~~igjiJ'\l~IIlJIUJ~ IL~INJI!)) ®QJJIJ'\l%'l!l'\l', OINI©" 

100 BRIDGE STREET SUITE 1 
WHEATON, ILLINOIS 60187 

(630) 588-0416 
(FAX) 65 3- 7682 

Oate: R<!viaian: Prepared For: 8 A YK ASSOCI TATES ! TO 4 
_03,(?_4/1 § ___ -~-~:=:_:{!""?"'."---;_ P"'E~""-""~!__;;c-L~_69~-~£~.!~I~~j~>-J.---..,-...,-,.-=..,.:;,A;;.R;..:,N~--~;,:..,~=-..:..;~·::-.::-==· .;,' ==-=--=-=--=~-fo::-.-:-~o';_-1 

-----1 '"'"'"' CARRADUS LAND SURVEY, INC.'""''' 7. Qc· No t Assume distances "!rOm scc led measurements mode hereon. (EMAIL) CARRADUS_;;uRVE Y<!lYAHOO.COM 
100 Bridqe Strl'let Su it"" 1, Wh er.~ton, !llln cls 60187 863-SUB 

. . (630) 588 - 04'1 6 ( F'AX) 653- 7682 · 

---- - 1--------

_J 



 
 

Exhibit 4 
 

Waiver of Right to File an 
Objection Petition Opposing the Creation of 

River Forest Special Service Area Number 10 
(Promenade Townhomes Project) 

 
(attached) 







1 
 

Village of River Forest 
 
 

POLICE DEPARTMENT MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 

TO:  Eric Palm- Village Administrator 
  

 FROM: Gregory Weiss- Chief of Police 
  

DATE: January 5, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: December 2016 Monthly Report 

 

 

Crime Statistics 

December is the last month of the statistical year for crime reporting and this year our overall 

reported crime showed a slight increase in both Part I and Part II offenses. Although the highest 

increase in Part 1 offenses were property crimes (up 11%), violent crimes remained below last 

year’s numbers (down 11%).  There was also a slight increase in Part II crimes, however this 

increase could be contributed to an increase in traffic enforcement (up 9%), resulting in traffic 

arrests that are reported as Part II offenses.   
 

 Dec. 

2015 

Dec. 

2016 

Diff. 

+/- 

% 

+/- 

YTD 

2015 

YTD 

2016 

Diff. 

+/- 

% 

+/- 

Part I* 22 17 -5 -23% 282 308 26 9% 

         

Part II** 50 68 18 36% 762 841 79 10% 

         

Reports*** 145 151 -23 -12% 2215 2046 -169 -8% 

         

Events**** **** 2183 **** **** **** 21500 **** **** 
 

*Part I offenses include homicide, criminal sexual assault, robbery, aggravated battery, burglary, theft, and motor vehicle 

theft. 

**Part II offenses include simple battery, assault, criminal trespass, disorderly conduct, and all other misdemeanor and 

traffic offenses. 

*** Reports (new category) include total number of reports written by officers during the month.  This data was 

compiled beginning in Sept. 2015 

****Events (new category) include all activities conducted by officers, including foot patrols, premise checks, traffic stops 

and all other calls for service not included as PART I and PART II offenses.  

 

Town Center  

The police department conducted 221 calls for service at the Town Center properties; of those calls 

the majority were premise checks due to extended store hours and an increase in holiday shoppers. 

As a result there were only four (4) reported crimes which included one (1) assault and three (3) 

retail thefts.  



2 
 

 Community Support 

On December 2nd, our Crime Prevention Officer met with the RF Public Library employees to 

discuss their emergency response plans and to conduct a safety presentation for the Library staff. 

Officer Czernik also assisted the Village President (who was invited to speak to the local Cub Scout 

Pack) on December 16th by giving a police department tour to the group of boys and their parents.   

 

Det. Sergeant Greenwood was assigned to assist as an Instructor with R.A.D. training at Oak Park 

River Forest High School on December 8th. The freshman girls participate in the self-defense and 

awareness program as part of their curriculum. 

 

This month there was also a change in the Support Services Supervisor position. Sgt. Buckner who 

has been the supervisor for the past two years will transition to supervise the dayshift, and Sgt. 

Grill will oversee the Support Services Unit.  

 

Upcoming Special Events for January:    None Requested 

        

Active Solicitor Permits 

Individual or Organization Description Expires 

Pebble Consulting         Property Tax Appeal Consulting  11-Feb-17 

Pointe Pest Control Pest Control Services 21-Jun-17 

Budget Right Handyman Handyman Certificates 24-Jun-17 

Melanie Darro Inc. Dry Cleaning Promotions  29-Jul-17 

Comcast Internet Services 16-Sep-17 

Edward Jones Financial Services 4-Oct-17 

 

Budget and Fiscal Monitoring 

December 1 –December 31, 2016 

December completes the eighth month of FY17, and parking citation revenue for the fiscal year is 

below the estimated projection. Administrative Tow revenue is also below the projected revenue 

for the month. Conversely, we have met our annual projection for Local Ordinance violations, and 

overtime in December was lower than the monthly projection.  

Revenue/Expenditure Summary 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Category  Total # 

Paid 

 12/16 

Total # paid 

FY17 

Y-T-D 

Expenditure/ 

Revenue 

12/16 

FY17 Y-T-D 

Expenditure/Revenue 

Parking/Compliance 

Citations 

253 2200 $10,817 $105,620 

 

Admin. Tows 18 157 $9,000 $78,500 

Local Ordinance  2 19 $448 $4,949 

Overtime 155 2,001 hrs $9,735 $121,379 



3 
 

Significant Arrests: 
16-01912-Aggravated Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol 
On December 9, 2016 a River Forest officer stopped a vehicle in the area of Harlem/North due to numerous 
violations.  The 53 year old male from Chicago exhibited numerous signs of intoxication and had a Revoked 
driver’s license from a previous DUI arrest. At the station, the subject refused field sobriety tests and refused 
to provide a breath sample.  The States Attorney’s office was contacted and due to his driver’s license being 
revoked for DUI, a charged of Felony Aggravated Driving Under the Influence and Aggravated Driving 
While License Revoked was approved.  The offender was transported to the Maybrook courthouse for bond 
hearing. 
 

16-01922: DUI Arrest     
On December 11, 2016, a River Forest officer was dispatched to a call of a hit and run incident involving a 
vehicle hitting a sign at the intersection of Washington and Franklin.  As the officer was responding to the 
call, the officer observed a vehicle matching the description of the offending vehicle travelling northbound 
on the 700 block of Franklin. The officer turned around to catch up to the vehicle and as he attempted to 
catch up to the vehicle, the officer observed multiple IVC violations. As the officer attempted to stop the 
vehicle in the 400 block of Thatcher, the vehicle failed to yield to the lights initially and turned onto the 8000 
block of Hawthorne where it crashed into a tree. The driver, a 38 year old male from Hillside, exited the 
vehicle, showed multiple signs of impairment and admitted to having alcoholic beverages. The Driver was 
taken into custody for leaving the scene of an accident.   While at RFPD the driver refused breathe testing.  
He was charged with DUI, leaving the scene of an accident and various other IVC violations before being 
released on bond. 
 

16-01930-Warrant/Obstructing Identification 
On December 13, 2016 a River Forest officer stopped a vehicle for traffic violations. The 22 year old male 
passenger from Bellwood gave numerous fictitious names and identifiers on scene. The subject was brought 
into the station. The subject was fingerprinted and the fingerprint response showed the subject had a valid 
arrest warrant out of DuPage County.  The offender was charged with Obstructing Identification and the 
warrant.  The offender was placed in a cell awaiting bond/transport to bond hearing. 
 
16-01939 –Unlawful Possession of a Credit Card 
On December 14, 2016 a River Forest officers responded to the Shell gas station in reference to a call where 
a subject was using what the clerk believed to be a stolen credit card to fill up numerous vehicles with gas.  
Upon arrival the officer observed the subject in question, a 28 year old male from Chicago attempting to 
enter an awaiting vehicle.  Officers asked the subject to stop but he continued to enter the vehicle.  Officers 
stopped the vehicle which was driven by a 29 year old female from Chicago.  The 28 year old male violently 
opened the door striking one of the officers and began to fight with the officers in an attempt to defeat the 
arrest.  The subject was taken into custody and officers only sustained minor injuries.  The 29 year old 
female driver and 27 year old male passenger from Chicago were also taken into custody pending further 
investigation.  The 28 year old male was found to be in possession of a company credit card which he was 
not authorized to possess and used it to fill up vehicles with gas in exchange for cash.  He was charged with 
Unlawful Possession of a Credit Card, Aggravated Battery to a Peace Officer and Resisting a Peace Officer.  
The Cook County State’s Attorney Felony Review unit declined to lodge any criminal complaints against the 
29 year old female driver and 27 year old male passenger.  The 29 year old female was issued citations and 
released without any criminal charges.  The 27 year old male passenger was released without charge. 
 
16-01994-Aggravated Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol 
On December 24, 2016, a River Forest officer observed a vehicle traveling at high rates of speed in the 
interior streets of River Forest.  The officer then observed the vehicle crash into an unoccupied vehicle near 
the intersection of Oak and Park.  The 33 year old man from Elmhurst attempted to leave the scene but was 
stopped by police. The driver showed numerous signs of intoxication and was arrested.  The driver refused to 



4 
 

perform any tests or provide a breath sample. The States Attorney’s office was contacted and they approved 
a Felony Aggravated Driving Under the Influence charge against the driver due to him not possessing a 
license.  The offender was later transported to Maybrook courthouse for bond hearing.  
 
16-02022: Obstructing Identification 
 On December 31, 2016 a River Forest officer stopped a vehicle for multiple IVC violations including 
Aggravated Speeding.  The driver, a 25 year old female from Chicago was arrested.  During the arrest the 
driver provided a fictitious name and date of birth to the officer.  Once her identity was verified the driver 
was charged with Obstructing Identification, Aggravated Speeding, and other IVC violations.  The driver 
was released on bond. 
 

The following chart summarizes and compares the measured activity for all three patrol watches 

during the month of December 2016:  
 

 Midnights 
2230-0630 

Day Watch 
0630-1430 

Third Watch 
1430-2230 

Criminal Arrests 9 4 4 

Quasi-Criminal Arrests 1 0 3 

DUI Arrests 7 0 2 

Misdemeanor Traffic 18 11 4 

Hazardous Moving Violations 107 63 37 

Compliance/Parking Citations 181 43 26 

Warrant Arrests 5 0 1 

Premise Checks/Foot Patrols 226 377 379 

Field Interviews 10 8 40 

Traffic Stops 150 205 187 

Written Reports 22 74 54 

Administrative Tows 14 7 12 

Sick Days 2 3 0 

 

Detective Division 

During the month of December, the Detective Unit opened up/reviewed eighteen (18) cases for 

potential follow-up.  Of those cases, two (2) were Cleared by Arrest, eight (8) were 

Administratively Closed or Suspended, two (2) were Exceptionally Cleared, two (2) was 

Unfounded, and four (4) are pending.  The Unit also continued to investigate open cases from 

previous months.   

Year to Date Arrest Statistics 

 

Quantity Arrested # Felony  
Charges 

# Misdemeanor 
Charges 

# Warrants 

 96  88 37 9 

 
December 2016 Case Assignment Summary 

 

Part I # Cases Cleared by 

Arrest 

Adm 

Closed 

Screen 

Out 

Susp Except Pend Refer Unfound 

Aggravated Battery 1     1    

Aggravated Bank Robbery 1 1        

Burglary-Auto 2  2       

Burglary-Garage 1  1       



5 
 

Attempt Burglary-Residential 1     1    

Theft 4 1 2    2   

Total Part I 10        0 

Part II # Cases Cleared by 

Arrest 

Adm 

Closed 

Screen 

Out 

Susp Except 

Clear 

Pend Refer Unfound 

Disorderly Conduct 1      1   

Retail Theft 4 2 1    1   

Suspicious Persons/Incidents 3  2      1 

Total Part II 8         

TOTALS 18 3 8 0 0 3 7 1 0 

 

Training 

During the month of December 2016, the Department sent six (6) Police Officers for a total of fifty-

two (52) hours of training. The information detailing the courses and total training time is listed 

below. 

 

Officer Name Course Title Start End Hours 

Cassidy Breath Analysis for Alcohol Training 12/12/2016 12/13/2016 16 

Eberling Decision Making for Critical Incident Response 12/1/2016  8 

Fields Body Searches: From Terry Stop to Strip Search 12/13/2016  8 

Greenwood Sex Offender Registration Update 12/15/2016  4 

Landini Decision Making for Critical Incident Response 12/1/2016  8 

Pluto Law Enforcement Ethics for Sergeants and Lieutenants 12/14/2016  8 

6 Total   52 

 















 - 1 - 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 

DATE:  January 4, 2017 
 
TO:  Eric J. Palm, Village Administrator 
 
FROM:  John Anderson, Director of Public Works  

 
SUBJECT: Monthly Report – December 2016 
  
 
Executive Summary 
 
In the month of December the department of Public Works started with a continuation of fall 
operations and the leaf removal program.  This quickly changed with the first measurable snowfall 
occurring on December 4th.  This snowfall produced 6.4 inches of snow and was beginning of a 
pattern of snowfall occurring for the next several weekends.  On December 10th and 11th an 
extended snowfall occurred which accumulated to 7.8 inches of snow.  There were also several 
minor snow and ice accumulation events throughout the month.  All of this resulted in the usage 
of over 220 tons of salt on Village streets, alleys, and parking lots.  Staff also continued to focus on 
the following ongoing maintenance items: tree trimming, tree removal, stump removal, sign 
repairs/fabrication, water valve exercising, and water meter replacement.  Public Works 
management staff continued to formulate the capital improvements plan for the upcoming 
budget.  Work was also performed by staff on the operating budget for the next fiscal year for all 
of public works operations. 
 
 
Engineering Division Summary 
 

 Received and processed 3 grading permits 

 Designed and submitted (to IDOT) plans and project documents for the 2017 Street 

Improvement Project 

 Began design on the 2017 Water Main Improvements Project 

 Began/continued design on 2017 Alley Improvement Project 

 Completed crosswalk survey of all intersections throughout the Village 

 Completed Engineering portion of 2017 Capital Improvement Program 

 
Public Works – Operations 
 
The following is a summary of utility locate requests received from JULIE (Joint Utility Locating 
Information for Excavators) and work orders (streets, forestry, water, sewer, etc.) that were 
received and processed during the past 12 months:     



 - 2 - 

 
 Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Utility Locates 62 84 142 323 216 292 245 105 151 192 106 46 

Work orders 12 34 30 22 45 80 51 52 45 30 12 24 

 
Water and Sewer 
Monthly Pumpage:  December’s average daily pumpage of 0.96 million gallons (MG) is slightly 
higher than December’s average of 0.91 MG in 2015. 

 
Volume of Water Pumped into the Distribution System (Million Gallons) 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2014

2015

2016

 
In the month of December Water division personnel continued the replacement of batteries within 
MXUs (water meter reading devices) based on the errors in the meter reading reports performed 
each month.   
 
One hydrant was repaired in the month of December; it was on a Fire Department list for needed 
repairs and was located at the southeast corner of Chicago and Thatcher.  The lead and copper 
survey for the EPA’s list of required homes for testing was completed in December.  There were 
two service leaks repaired by Suburban General on 12/7 at 1112 Franklin and 12/28 at 738 
Monroe.  There was one water main break on 12/21 at 1002 Monroe that was repaired by 
Suburban General.   
 
The Water Division personnel performed these additional tasks in December: 

 Installed 20 meters 

 Exercised 7 valves 

 Responded to 171 service calls 
 
 



 - 3 - 

Streets and Forestry 
Staff in the Streets and Forestry division focused heavily on snow and ice removal, tree trimming, 
sewer cleaning and televising, sign repairs/fabrications were also performed frequently in the 
month of December along with these additional tasks: 
 

Description of Work Performed Quantity 

Number of Snow & Ice Responses 6 

Street Salting (tons) 220.2 

Trees Trimmed 209 

Trees Removed 2 

Stumps Removed 1 

Street Sweeping (curb miles) 81 

Sign Repairs/Fabrication 2 

Sewer Cleaning & Televising (lin. ft.) 322 

Leaf Removal (loads) 53 

Leaf Removal (tons) 198.2 

 



Village of River Forest 
Village Administrator’s Office  

400 Park Avenue 
River Forest, IL 60305 

Tel:  708-366-8500 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: January 5, 2017 
 
To: Eric Palm, Village Administrator 
 
From: Lisa Scheiner, Assistant Village Administrator 
 
Subj: Building & Zoning Report - December, 2016 
  

The Village issued 55 permits in December, 2016, compared to 79 during the same month in 
2015.  Permit activity remains high overall for the second year.  Permit revenue has exceeded 
projections as a result of larger development projects coming to fruition and obtaining 
building permits.  Permit revenue collected in December, 2016, totaled $15,406, compared to 
$34,150 in November, and was lower due to the volume and type of permits issued.  
Decreased activity is typical this time of year; however, working conditions were also 
impacted by several extremely cold days.  Fiscal Year to-date permit revenue is $584,434, 
which comprises 120% of the $487,275 projected for FY 16-17 and can be attributed to large 
commercial and multi-family residential developments.  

Planned Development Project Updates 

Below please find a summary of the status of the approved planned development permits as 
well as the pending applications.  
 

Approved: 
• The Promenade (7820 W. Madison Street - Approved July 13, 2015) – Construction of 

the townhomes continues following approval on both minor and major amendments 
to the planned development.    

• Community Bank (7751 Lake Street - Approved March 14, 2016) - Construction 
continues on the building.   

• St. Vincent’s Church (1530 Jackson - Approved March 23, 2016) – St. Vincent’s is 
anticipating that construction will begin in the spring.  The Planned Development 
Ordinance requires that a permit application be received within nine (9) months of 
planned development approval.  The church’s architect submitted permit materials 
prior to December 23, 2016, therefore, the planned development permit remains valid.  
Staff continues to anticipate that construction will commence and conclude in the 
timeline required by the Village’s building permit and zoning timelines.  



• Concordia University Residence Hall (Bonnie Brae Place - Approved July 12, 2016) – 
An early start permit was issued and construction is underway.  Staff and the 
University’s representatives have been working closely to finalize plumbing and 
electrical permits and to ensure that permit drawings are complete.  Staff believes that 
a permit can be issued shortly and that the issue has not delayed construction. 

• Fenwick Artificial Turf Field (Approved September 26, 2016) - Engineering review of 
the project is underway but no building permit application has been received.  

• Bonnie Brae Condominiums (1101-1111 Bonnie Brae Place - Approved November 17, 
2016) – The developer is in the process of finalizing construction drawings so that a 
building permit application may be submitted.  The developer hopes to commence 
construction in the spring. 

 
Pending: 
• Concordia University Cell Tower (7400 Augusta) - The University will present 

information to the Village Board of Trustees on January 9, 2017, regarding a possible 
increase to the height of a portion of the parking garage to allow for the installation of 
an additional cellular antenna. 

• Keystone Ventures (Lake Street & Lathrop Avenue) – The developer met with the 
Board.  A planned development application was submitted to the Village on November 
15, 2016 but was deficient.  The applicant was notified of deficiencies in the 
application and staff awaits a revised application.  Once the application has been 
deemed complete staff will initiate the technical review process and schedule a public 
hearing. 

• Dominican University Student Commons in the Heart of Campus – The University met 
with Board and held pre-filing conference with the DRB; however, commencement of 
the planned development process has been temporarily delayed.  

• River Forest Park District – The Park District met with Board regarding the proposed 
addition to their facility on Lake Street; however, no further action or notice has been 
received regarding applicant’s desire to proceed with the process. 
 

Permit and Real Estate Transfer Activity Measures 

Permits 

Month FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 
May 97 101 113 124 178 
June 113 99 104 144 179 
July 71 76 112 150 140 
August 128 105 84 144 145 
September 123 83 111 180 130 
October 84 82 120 149 140 
November 64 62 55 72 98 
December 37 39 43 79 55 
January 35 23 24 66  
February 19 27 22 67  



March 42 47 41 109  
April 71 93 78 97  

Two Month Comparison - 101 98 151 153 
Fiscal Year Total 884 837 907 1,381 1,065 

 
Real Estate Transfers 

 December 
2016 

December 
2015 

FY 2017  
Total  

FY 2016 
Total 

Total Transfers 10 23 174 230 
 
Residential Property Demolition 

 December 
2016 

FYTD 2017  
Total  

FY 2016 
Total 

FY 2015 
Total 

Total Residential 
Demolitions 

0 7 3 2 

 



1 

 

Village of River Forest 
Village Administrator’s Office  

400 Park Avenue 
River Forest, IL 60305 

Tel:  708-366-8500 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 

Date:  January 4, 2017 
 
To: Eric Palm, Village Administrator 
 
From: Lisa Scheiner, Assistant Village Administrator  
 
Subj: Village-Wide Performance Measurement Report – December 2016  
 

 
 

Building Department Performance 
Measures 

FY 2016 
Actual 

FY 2016 
Goal 

December 
 Actual 

FY 2017 
YTD 

Plan reviews of large projects completed 
in 3 weeks or less 

81% 
  (115 of 142) 

95% 
91% 

  (10 of 11) 
55% 

  (58 of 106) 

Re-reviews of large projects completed in 
2 weeks or less 

92% 
  (167 of 182) 

95% 
71% 

  (10 of 14) 
65% 

  (83 of 128) 

Plan reviews of small projects completed 
in 5 days or less 

97% 
  (77 of 79) 

95% 
100% 

  (5 of 5) 
100% 

  (128 of 128) 

Express permits issued at time of 
application 

99% 
  (244 of 246) 

100% 
100% 

  (10 of 10) 
99% 

  (163 of 164) 

Inspections completed within 24 hours of 
request 

100% 
  (1249 of 

1249) 
100% 

100% 
  (124 of 

124) 

100% 
  (1086 of 

1086) 

Contractual inspections passed 
95% 

  (1266 of 
1331) 

80% 
94% 

  (116 of 
124) 

93% 
  (1007 of 

1086) 

Inspect vacant properties once per month 
98% 

  (350 of 356) 
100% 

100% 
  (35 of 35) 

100% 
  (259 of 259) 

Conduct building permit survey quarterly 5 

1 per 
quarter 1 3 

Make contact with existing business 
owners 60 

5/month 
60/year 5 40 

     

     

     



2 

 

Fire Department Performance 
Measures 

FY 2016 
Actual 

FY 2016 
Goal 

December 
 Actual 

FY 2017 
YTD 

Average fire/EMS response time for 
priority calls for service (Includes call 
processing time) 

4:18 
 minutes 

5 Min 
4:08 

 minutes 
4:02 

 minutes 

Customer complaints and/or public safety 
professional complaints  

0% <1% 0% 0% 

All commercial, multi-family and 
educational properties inspected annually 

391 
335 

inspections 
22 192 

Injuries on duty resulting in lost time 1 <3 0 0 

Plan reviews completed 10 working days 
after third party review 

1.82 days on 
average 

<10 
3. days on 

average 
3.5 days on 

average 

Complete 270 hours of training for each 
shift personnel 

6106. 4824 478. 5893.8 

Inspect and flush fire hydrants semi-
annually 

803 
892 

annually 
0 1507 

     

     Police Department Performance 
Measures 

FY 2016 
Actual 

FY 2016 
Goal 

December 
 Actual 

FY 2017 
YTD 

Average police response time for priority 
calls for service (Does not include call 
processing time) 

3:41 
 minutes 

4:00 
3:42 

 minutes 
3:58 

 minutes 

Injuries on duty resulting in lost time 4 0 Days Lost 0 0 

Reduce claims filed for property & vehicle 
damage caused by the Police Department 
by 25% 

0 <3 0 2 

Maintain positive relationship with the 
bargaining unit and reduce the number of 
grievances 

4 0% 0 0 

Reduce overtime and improve morale by 
decreasing sick leave usage  

762 days 
10% 

reduction 
11 days 74.5 days 

Track accidents at Harlem and North to 
determine impact of red light cameras 

18 accidents 
10% 

reduction 
1 accidents 15 accidents 

Decrease reported thefts (214 in 2012) 182 
5% 

reduction 
12 145 

Formal Citizen Complaints N/A 0 0 0 

Use of Force Incidents N/A 0 1 4 

Send monthly crime alerts to inform 
residents of crime patterns and prevention 
tips 

10 
1 email/ 

month; 12 
emails/year 

1 7 



3 

 

     

     
Public Works Performance Measures FY 2016 

Actual 
FY 2016 

Goal 
December 

 Actual 
FY 2017 

YTD 

Complete tree trimming/pruning service 
requests within 7 working days  

97% 
  (133 of 137) 

95% 
100% 

  (7 of 7) 
94% 

  (127 of 135) 

Complete service requests for unclogging 
blocked catch basins within 5 working 
days 

100% 
  (15 of 15) 

95% 
N/A 

  (0 of 0) 
100% 

  (11 of 11) 

Percent of hydrants out of service more 
than 10 working days 

0.03% 
  (1 of 3960) 

<1% 
0.00% 

  (0 of 440) 
0.00% 

  (0 of 3080) 

Replace burned out traffic signal bulb 
within 8 hours of notification 

100% 
  (4 of 4) 

99% N/A 
100% 

  (2 of 2) 

Complete service requests for patching 
potholes within 5 working days  

100% 
  (14 of 14) 

95% 
N/A 

  (0 of 0) 
100% 

  (7 of 7) 

Repair street lights in-house, or schedule 
contractual repairs, within five working 
days of notification    

92% 
  (68 of 74) 

95% 
100% 

  (3 of 3) 
97% 

  (32 of 33) 

Safety: Not more than two employee 
injuries annually resulting in days off from 
work 

0 ≤2 0 1 

Safety: Not more than one vehicle accident 
annually that was the responsibility of the 
Village 

0 ≤1 0 0 

Televise 2,640 lineal feet of combined 
sewer each month from April – September 

202% 
  (32054 of 

15840) 

2,640/ 
month 

(15,840/ 
year) 

0% 
  (0 of 2640) 

189% 
  (34971 of 

18480) 

Exercise 25 water system valves per 
month 

71% 
  (213 of 300) 

25/month 
(300/year) 

28% 
  (7 of 25) 

106% 
  (185 of 175) 

Complete first review of grading plans 
within 10 working days 

100% 
(90 of 90) 

95% 
100% 

  (3 of 3) 
100% 

  (67 of 67) 

     N/A: Not applicable, not available, or no service requests were made 
   



Village of River Forest 
Village Administrator’s Office  

400 Park Avenue 
River Forest, IL 60305 

Tel:  708-366-8500 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: January 9, 2017 
 
To: Catherine Adduci, Village President 
 Village Board of Trustees 
 
From: Eric J. Palm, Village Administrator 
 
Subj: Village Administrator’s Report 
 ______________________________________________________________________________________  
Upcoming Meetings (all meetings are at Village Hall unless otherwise noted) 
 
Monday, January 16  ALL DAY Martin Luther King Jr. Holiday – VILLAGE HALL CLOSED 
Tuesday, January 17  7:00 pm  Committee of the Whole Meeting - CANCELLED 
Wednesday, January 18  7:30 pm  Traffic & Safety Commission Meeting 
Thursday, January 19  7:30 pm  Development Review Board Meeting  
Monday, January 23  6:00 pm  Committee of the Whole - CIP 
Monday, January 23  7:00 pm  Village Board of Trustees Meeting 
 
Recent Payments of $10,000 
 
In accordance with the purchasing policy, the following is a summary of payments between $10,000 and $20,000 that 
have occurred since the last Board meeting: 
 

Vendor Amount Description 
CDW Government Inc. $10,535 Windows Server, Arbitrator & Licensing Projects 
ClientFirst Consulting Group $18,144 IT Monthly Support and 2017 upgrades 
Davis Tree Care $15,280 Parkway Tree & Stump Removals 
Kendall Hill Nursery Inc. $13,729 Purchase of Parkway Trees 
Pinner Electric Inc. $15,261 Street Lighting Repairs 
MOE Funds $13,470 PW Employee Health Insurance February 2017 

 

There was no new business licenses issued this month. 
 
Thank you.   



 374211_1 1 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF THE THIRD AMENDMENT TO 
THE REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR LAKE STREET AND LATHROP AVENUE 

IN THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
  

 WHEREAS, the Village of River Forest (“Village”) is an Illinois municipal corporation 

organized under the Illinois Constitution and the laws of the State of Illinois; and 

 WHEREAS, on March 23, 2016 the Village Board of Trustees approved an agreement entitled 

“Redevelopment Agreement For Lake Street And Lathrop Avenue In The Village Of River Forest, 

Cook County, Illinois” (the “Redevelopment Agreement”) with Lake Lathrop Partners, LLC (the 

“Developer”); and 

 WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Agreement called for the redevelopment of certain property 

in the Village generally located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Lathrop Avenue by the 

Developer; 

 WHEREAS, Section 4.01 of the Redevelopment Agreement required a planned development 

application to be filed with the Village by June 14, 2016; and  

 WHEREAS, the Developer failed to submit a planned development application to the Village 

by the previously agreed upon deadline; and  

 WHEREAS, on June 29, 2016, the Village sent the first default notice to the Developer 

pursuant to Section 7.06 of the Redevelopment Agreement in EXHIBIT A, attached hereto and made 

a part hereof, stating the reasons for the default of the Developer’s obligations under the 

Redevelopment Agreement; and  

 WHEREAS, the Developer asked for an extension of time to submit a planned development 

application to the Village; and 



 374211_1 2 

 WHEREAS, the Village agreed to amend the Redevelopment Agreement, and to extend the 

time for the Developer’s submission of a planned development application to the Village from June 14, 

2016 to October 14, 2016, and on July 12, 2016, the Village approved the amendment to the 

Redevelopment Agreement in Resolution 16-10 and “A First Amendment To The Redevelopment 

Agreement For Lake Street And Lathrop Avenue In The Village Of River Forest, Cook County, 

Illinois” attached thereto, which was executed by the Developer (the “First Amendment”), a copy of 

which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT B and made a part hereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the Developer failed to meet the deadlines in the Redevelopment Agreement, as 

amended by the First Amendment, with respect to planned  development permit application submittal 

in Section 4.01 of the Redevelopment Agreement, as amended by the First Amendment, and property 

acquisition and due diligence in Section 4.02 of the Redevelopment Agreement, as amended by the 

First Amendment; and  

 WHEREAS, the Developer asked for another extension of time to submit its planned 

development permit application, acquire the properties in question and to complete due diligence on 

those properties; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village agreed to amend the Redevelopment Agreement, as amended by the 

First Amendment, and to extend the time for the Developer’s submission of a planned development 

application to the Village from October 14, 2016 to November 15, 2016, and to extend the time for the 

Developer to complete its due diligence on the properties to be acquired, from June 14, 2016 to 

November 15, 2016, and on October 10, 2016, the Village approved the amendment to the 

Redevelopment Agreement, as amended by the First Amendment, in Resolution 16-11 and “A Second 

Amendment To The Redevelopment Agreement For Lake Street And Lathrop Avenue In The Village 

Of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois” attached thereto, which was executed by the Developer (the 



 374211_1 3 

“Second Amendment”), a copy of which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT C and made a part hereof; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Agreement, as amended by the First Amendment and Second 

Amendment, required the Developer to acquire the “Parcels,” as defined in the Redevelopment 

Agreement, as amended by the First Amendment and Second Amendment, on or before September 30, 

2016, or within sixty (60) days thereafter, and required the Developer to have undertaken its due 

diligence on the Parcels by November 15, 2016; and  

 WHEREAS, the Developer again failed to meet the deadlines regarding property acquisition 

and due diligence; and  

 WHEREAS, on December 2, 2016, the Village sent the second default notice to the Developer 

pursuant to Section 7.06 of the Redevelopment Agreement in EXHIBIT D, attached hereto and made 

a part hereof, stating the reasons for the default of the Developer’s obligations under the 

Redevelopment Agreement, as amended by the First Amendment and the Second Amendment; and  

 WHEREAS, the Developer has again requested another extension to complete its due 

diligence on the Parcels and to acquire the Parcels; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village agrees to again amend the Redevelopment Agreement, as amended by 

the First Amendment and the Second Amendment, on the terms set forth in “A Third Amendment To 

The Redevelopment Agreement For Lake Street And Lathrop Avenue In The Village Of River Forest, 

Cook County, Illinois,” which has been executed by the Developer (the “Third Amendment”), a copy 

of which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT E and made a part hereof; and 

 WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the health, safety and welfare of the Village to approve 

the Third Amendment; 



 374211_1 4 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois: 

 Section 1:  The Preambles hereto are hereby made a part of, and operative provisions of, 

this Resolution as fully as if completely repeated at length herein. 

 Section 2:  That the President and Village Board of the Village of River Forest hereby find 

that it is in the best interests of the Village of River Forest and its residents that the Third Amendment 

be entered into by the Village of River Forest, with the Third Amendment to be substantially in the 

form attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT E. 

 Section 3: That the President and Village Clerk of the City of River Forest, Cook County, 

Illinois, are hereby authorized to executive for and on behalf of said Village of River Forest, the 

aforesaid Third Amendment, and all other documents related thereto necessary to consummate the 

transactions contemplated therein on behalf of the Village of River Forest. 

 Section 4: That this Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and approval as 

required by law. 

 
 PASSED on a roll call vote of the Corporate Authorities on the 9th day of January, 2017. 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT: 

  
 

 APPROVED by me this 9th day of January, 2017. 
 
 

________________________________ 
Village President 
 



 374211_1 5 

 
 APPROVED and FILED in my office this 9th day of January, 2017 and published in 
pamphlet form in the Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois. 
 

   ATTEST: 
________________________________ 
  Village Clerk 

 



 374211_1 6 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
FIRST DEFAULT NOTICE 

DATED JUNE 29, 2016 
 

(attached) 

 







 374211_1 7 

 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DATED JULY 12, 2016 

 
(attached) 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 16-10

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF THE FIRST AMENDMENT OF

THE REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR LAKE STREET AND LATHROP AVENUE

IN THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST. COOK COUNTY. ILLINOIS

WHEREAS, the Village of River Forest (" Village") is an Illinois municipal corporation

organized under the Illinois Constitution and the laws of the State of Illinois; and

WHEREAS, on March 23, 2016 the Village Board of Trustees approved a Redevelopment

Agreement with Lake Lathrop Partners, LLC; and

WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Agreement required a planned development application to be

filed with the Village by June 14, 2016; and

WHEREAS, the Developer failed to submit a planned development application to the Village

by the previously agreed upon deadline; and

WHEREAS, the Village sent a default notice to the Developer, as provided in EXHBIT A.

stating the reasons for the default; and

WHEREAS, the Developer has asked for a ninety (90) day extension to submit a planned

development application to the Village; and

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the health, safety and welfare of the Village to adopt

this amendment to the Redevelopment Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of the

Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois:

Section 1: The Preambles hereto are hereby made a part of, and operative provisions of,

this Resolution as fully as if completely repeated at length herein.

Section 2: That the President and Village Board of the Village of River Forest hereby find

that it is in the best interests of the Village of River Forest and its residents that the aforesaid



Amendment be entered into by the Village of River Forest, with said Agreement to be substantially in

the form attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT B.

Section 3: That the President and Village Clerk of the City of River Forest, Cook County,

Illinois, are hereby authorized to executive for and on behalf of said Village of River Forest, the

aforesaid Agreement, and all other documents related thereto necessary to consummate the

transactions contemplated therein on behalf of the Village of River Forest.

Section 4: That this Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and approval as

required by law.

PASSED on a roll call vote of the Corporate Authorities on the 12th day of July, 2016.

AYES: Trustees Conti, Gibbs, Corsini, Cargie, Colwell-Steinke, and Dwyer

NAYS: None

ABSENT: None

APPROVED by me this 12th day of July, 2016

Village President

APPROVED and FILED in my office this 12th day of July, 2016 and published in

pamphlet form in the Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois.

ATTEST:

Village Clerk



EXHIBIT A

DEFAULT NOTICE



RIVERFOREST
JOG Park Avenue

River Forest, IL 60305

Ph (70S] 366-S500

F (70S) 366-3702

v\vw. ri ver-fon.jst.xis

Inland Real Estate Development

Corporation

2901 Butterfield Road

Oak Brook, Illinois 60523

Attention: David Howat

Email; howat@inlandgroup.com

June 29,2016

Lake Lathrop Partners LLC

c/o Keystone Ventures, LLC

418 Clinton Place

River Forest, Illinois 60305-2203

Attention: Timothy B. Hague

Email: thague@keystoneventuresllc.com

Meltzer, Purtill & Stelle, LLC

300 S. Wacker Drive, Suite 2300

Chicago, Illinois 60606-6704

Attention: William J. Mitchell

Fax: 312.987.9854

Email: wmitchell@mpslaw.com

VIA CERTIFED MAIL. RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

AND ELECTRONIC MAIL

Re: Notice of Default in Regard to the Redevelopment

Agreement for Lake Street and Lathrop Avenue in the

Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois

To Whom It May Concern:

Please be advised that pursuant to Section 4,01 of the above-captioned

Redevelopment Agreement between the Village of River Forest and Lake

Lathrop Partners LLC, dated March 23,2016 (the "Agreement"), Lake Lathrop

Partners LLC was to have submitted a complete application to the Village for

the Proposed PD, as defined in the Agreement, no later than June 14, 2016. As

of June 29, 2016, Lake Lathrop Partners LLC has not submitted a complete

application to the Village for the Proposed PD, as defined in the Agreement.

Also be advised that pursuant to Section 4.02.C. of the Agreement, Lake

Lathrop Partners LLC was to have (i) conducted and/or commissioned studies

and investigation of the contamination and suitability of the soils on all of the

Parcels, as defined in the Agreement, (ii) made good faith efforts to acquire the

ownership and leasehold interests in the Parcels, ( iii) conducted and/or

commissioned studies and focus groups and investigate the market feasibility

of the Project, as defined in the Agreement, and ( iv) undertaken initial

preparation of plans and specifications and other data necessary to file an

application for a planned development permit issued by the Village for the

Project, as defined in the Agreement, on or prior to June 14, 2016. As of June

29, 2016, Lake Lathrop Partners LLC has not completed its obligations in

Section 4.02.C.



Lake Lathrop Partners LLC

Inland Real Estate Development Corporation

Meltzer, Purtill & Stelle, LLC

June 29,2016

Page 2

Based on the foregoing, and pursuant to Section 7.04 of the Agreement, you are hereby

notified that Lake Lathrop Partners LLC is in default under the Agreement. The defaults must

be cured within the time set forth in the Agreement, or the Village of River Forest may

declare the Agreement terminated.

Eric Palm

Village Administrator

cc: Village President Catherine Adduci and Board of Trustees

Lance C. Malina, Klein, Thorpe & Jenkins, Ltd.

Gregory T. Smith, Klein, Thorpe & Jenkins, Ltd.



EXHIBIT B

AMENDMENT TO REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT



A FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE

REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR LAKE STREET AND LATHROP AVENUE

IN THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR

LAKE STREET AND LATHROP AVENUE IN THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST, COOK

COUNTY, ILLINOIS ("Amendment") is made between the VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST, an

Illinois municipal corporation (" Village") and LAKE LATHROP PARTNERS LLC, an Illinois

limited liability company (" Developer"), as nominee of KEYSTONE VENTURES, LLC, an

Illinois limited liability company (" Keystone") and is dated this 12 day of July, 2016 (" Effective

Date").

A. The " Redevelopment Agreement For Lake Street And Lathrop Avenue In The

Village Of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois," dated March 23, 2016, by and between the

Village and Developer ( the "Redevelopment Agreement") is hereby amended as follows:

1. Section 4.01 is hereby amended and shall read as follows, with deletions

struck through and additions underlined:

4.01 Planned Development. Developer shall submit a complete

application to the Village for the Proposed PD on or before Jtme October 14,

2016 (" Proposed PD Application Deadline").

2. Section 4.02.C. is hereby amended and shall read as follows, with

deletions struck through and additions underlined:

4.02 C. As of the Effective Date and through June October 14,

2016 (" Initial Feasibility Period"), Developer shall ( i) conduct and/or commission

studies and investigation of the contamination and suitability of the soils on all of

the Parcels, ( ii) make good faith efforts to acquire the ownership and leasehold

interests in the Parcels, ( iii) conduct and/or commission studies and focus groups

and investigate the market feasibility of the Project, and ( iv) undertake initial

preparation of plans and specifications and other data necessary to file an

application for a planned development permit issued by the Village for the Project

on or prior to the Proposed PD ApplicationDeadline.

B. All portions of the Redevelopment Agreement not amended herein shall remain in

full force and effect.

C. This Amendment shall not affect or impair any of the rights or obligations of the

Village or Developer under the Redevelopment Agreement, nor shall this Amendment waive any

defaults or breaches of the Redevelopment Agreement existing as of the Effective Date of this

Amendment to the extent that this Amendment does not result in the cure of a default or breach

of the Redevelopment Agreement existing as of the Effective Date of this Amendment.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be

executed on or as of the day and year first above written.

DEVELOPER:

LAKE LATHROP PARTNERS LLC, an Illinois

limited liability company

ATTEST:

By:

VILLAGE:

VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST, an Illinois

municipal corporatij

By:

Village President

Village Clerk



ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF ILLINOIS

COUNTY OF COOK

SS

I, the undersigned, a Notary Public, in and for the County and State aforesaid, DO

HEREBY CERTIFY that Catherine Adduci and Sharon Halperin, personally known to me to be

the Village President and Village Clerk of the Village of River Forest, and personally known to

me to be the same persons whose names are subscribed to the foregoing instrument, appeared

before me this day in person and severally acknowledged that as such Village President and

Village Clerk, they signed and delivered the said instrument and caused the corporate seal of said

municipal corporation to be affixed thereto, pursuant to authority given by the President and

Board of Trustees of said Illinois municipal corporation, as their free and voluntary act, and as

the free and voluntary act and deed of said Illinois municipal corporation, for the uses and

purposes therein set forth.

GIVEN under my hand and official seal, this 2016.

Notary Public

OFFICIAL SEAL

DAWN C. HANEY
NOTARY PUBLIC. STATE OF ILLINOIS

My Commission Expires 02/10/2020



ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF ILLINOIS

COUNTY OF COOK

SS

I, the undersigned, a Rotary Public, in and for the County and State aforesaid, DO

HEREBY CERTIFY that \ uV\t#hl/) D neP^ , personally known to me to be the

manager of Lake Lathrop Partners LLC, an Illinois limited liability company, and personally

known to me to be the same person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument,

appeared before me this day in person and severally acknowledged that, as such manager, he

signed and delivered the said instrument as his free and voluntary act, and as the free and

voluntary act and deed of said company, for the uses and purposes therein set forth.

GIVEN under my hand and official seal, this

Notary Public

2016.

OFFICIALSEAL " M"

DAWN C. HANEY
NOTAW PUBLIC, STATC OFILLINOISMyCommissionExpfw,iSlSS'8



 374211_1 8 

 
EXHIBIT C 

 
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

DATED OCTOBER 10, 2016 
 

(attached) 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 16-11

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF THE SECOND AMENDMENT OF

THE REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR LAKE STREET AND LATHROP AVENUE

IN THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

WHEREAS, the Village of River Forest (" Village") is an Illinois municipal corporation

organized under the Illinois Constitution and the laws of the State of Illinois; and

WHEREAS, on March 23, 2016 the Village Board of Trustees approved a Redevelopment

Agreement with Lake Lathrop Partners, LLC; and

WHEREAS, on July 12, 2016 the Village Board of Trustees approved the First Amendment of

the Redevelopment Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Developer is seeking to extend the deadlines for property acquisition and

planned development submittal to November 15, 2016; and

WHEREAS, the Developer has made progress with the project by acquiring one of the three

properties and continues to make good faith efforts to acquire the other two properties; and

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the health, safety and welfare of the Village to adopt

this amendment to the Redevelopment Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of the

Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois:

Section 1: The Preambles hereto are hereby made a part of, and operative provisions of,

this Resolution as fully as if completely repeated at length herein.

Section 2: That the President and Village Board of the Village of River Forest hereby find

that it is in the best interests of the Village of River Forest and its residents that the aforesaid

Amendment be entered into by the Village of River Forest, with said Agreement to be substantially in

the form attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT 1.



Section 3: That the President and Village Clerk of the City of River Forest, Cook County,

Illinois, are hereby authorized to executive for and on behalf of said Village of River Forest, the

aforesaid Agreement, and all other documents related thereto necessary to consummate the

transactions contemplated therein on behalf of the Village of River Forest.

Section 4: That this Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and approval as

required by law.

PASSED on a roll call vote of the Corporate Authorities on the 10th day of October, 2016.

AYES: Trustees Cargie, Conti, Dwyer, and Gibbs

NAYS: None

ABSENT: Trusees Corsini and Colwell-Steinke

APPROVED by me this 10th day of October, 2016

Village Presruent

APPROVED and FILED in my office this 10lh day of October, 2016 and published in

pamphlet form in the Village of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois.

ATTEST:

Village Clerk



EXHIBIT 1

SECOND AMENDMENT



A SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE

REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR LAKE STREET ANDLATHROP AVENUE

TN THE VILLAGE OF RTVER FOREST. COOK COUNTY. ILLINOIS

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR

LAKE STREET AND LATHROP AVENUE IN THE VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST, COOK

COUNTY, ILLINOIS ("Amendment") is made between the VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST, an

Illinois municipal corporation (" Village") and LAKE LATHROP PARTNERS LLC, an Illinois

limited liability company ("" Developer''), as nominee of KEYSTONE VENTURES, LLC, an

Illinois limited liability company (" Keystone") and is dated this 101'1 day of October, 2016

Effective Date").

A. The " Redevelopment Agreement For Lake Street And Lathrop Avenue In The

Village Of River Forest, Cook County, Illinois," dated March 23, 2016, by and between the

Village and Developer (the "Redevelopment Agreement") is hereby amended as follows:

1. Section 4.01 is hereby amended and shall read as follows, with deletions

struck through and additions underlined:

4.1 Planned Development. Developer shall submit a complete

application to the Village for the Proposed PD on or before November 15. 2016

Proposed PD Application Deadline").

2. Section 4.02.C. is hereby amended and shall read as follows, with

deletions struck through and additions underlined:

4.2 C. As of the Effective Date and through November 15. 2016

Initial Feasibility Period"), Developer shall ( i) conduct and/or commission

studies and investigation of the contamination and suitability of the soils on all of

the Parcels, ( ii) make good faith efforts to acquire the ownership and leasehold

interests in the Parcels, ( iii) conduct and/or commission studies and focus groups

and investigate the market feasibility of the Project, and ( iv) undertake initial

preparation of plans and specifications and other data necessary to file an

application for a planned development permit issued by the Village for the Project

on or prior to the Proposed PD Application Deadline.

B. All portions of the Redevelopment Agreement not amended herein shall remain in

full force and effect.

C. This Amendment shall not affect or impair any of the rights or obligations of the

Village or Developer under the Redevelopment Agreement, nor shall this Amendment waive any

defaults or breaches of the Redevelopment Agreement existing as of the Effective Date of this

Amendment to the extent that this Amendment does not result in the cure of a default or breach

of the Redevelopment Agreement existing as of the Effective Date of this Amendment.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be

executed on or as of the day and year first above written.

DEVELOPER:

LAKE LATHROP PARTNERS LLC, an Illinois

limited liability company

ATTEST:

By:

Village Clerk

VILLAGE:

VILLAGE OF RIVER FOREST, an Illinois

municipal corporatioi

Village President



ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF ILLINOIS

COUNTY OF COOK

SS

I, the undersigned, a Notary Public, in and for the County and State aforesaid, DO

HEREBY CERTIFY that Catherine Adduci and Sharon Halperin, personally known to me to be

the Village President and Village Clerk of the Village of River Forest, and personally known to

me to be the same persons whose names are subscribed to the foregoing instrument, appeared

before me this day in person and severally acknowledged that as such Village President and

Village Clerk, they signed and delivered the said instrument and caused the corporate seal of said

municipal corporation to be affixed thereto, pursuant to authority given by the President and

Board of Trustees of said Illinois municipal corporation, as their free and voluntary act, and as

the free and voluntary act and deed of said Illinois municipal corporation, for the uses and

purposes therein set forth.

tf^
GIVEN under my hand and official seal, this IU dayof_ 2016.

Notary Public

OFFICIAL SEAL

DAWN C. HANEY
NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF ILLINOIS

My Commission Expires 02/10/2020



ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF ILLINOIS

COUNTY OF COOK

SS

I, the undersigned, a Notary Puhjic, in and for the County and State aforesaid, DO

HEREBY CERTIFY that " iWOlk/ D Hflck personally known to me to be the

manager of Lake Lathrop Partners LLC, an Illirrois limited liability company, and personally

known to me to be the same person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument,

appeared before me this day in person and severally acknowledged that, as such manager, he

signed and delivered the said instrument as his free and voluntary act, and as the free and

voluntary act and deed of said company, for the uses and purposes therein set forth.

GIVEN under my hand and official seal, this Q day of 2016.

AMAMMMMMMMMIUUUMMMM **********'*

OFFICIAL SEAL

DAWN C. HANEY
NOTARY PUBLIC. STATE OF ILLINOIS

My Commission Expires 02/10/2020



 374211_1 9 

 
EXHIBIT D 

 
SECOND DEFAULT NOTICE 
DATED DECEMBER 2, 2016 

 
(attached) 

 







 374211_1 10 

 
EXHIBIT E 

 
THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
(attached) 

 

 

















Village of River Forest 
Village Administrator’s Office  

400 Park Avenue 
River Forest, IL 60305 

Tel:  708-366-8500 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: January 5, 2017 
 
To: Eric Palm, Village Administrator 
 
From: Lisa Scheiner, Assistant Village Administrator 
 
Subj: Introduction of Planned Development - Concordia University cell Tower 
 ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Attached please find a letter from Concordia University regarding their desire to increase 
the height of the southwest corner of the parking garage to allow for the installation of a 
Verizon antenna.  The project will require a major amendment to their existing planned 
development permit as the proposed project will increase the building height beyond what 
is allowed in the permit.  As such, Concordia will make a short presentation to the Village 
Board regarding the project before proceeding with the planned development process. 
 
Please note that the Village Board is not taking a vote to approve or deny the petition but is 
instead instructing staff whether to continue with the Planned Development process.  
Approval or denial of the planned development permit will come at a later date following a 
public hearing and review by the Development Review Board. 



1111 -----
1864 

CONC¢'RDIA 
UNIVERSITY 
CHICAGO 

December 20, 2016 

Cathy Adduci 
Village President 
Village of River Forest 
400 Park Ave. 
River Forest, IL 60305 

RE: Proposed New Verizon Wireless Cellula~ ~ntenna Installation 

Dear Cathy: 

As you know, Verizon Wireless (VM) approached Concordia earlier this year to 
discuss the possibility of a VM antenna site on Concordia property. 

7400 Augusta Street 

River Fores t 

Illinois 60305-1499 

708-771-8300 

fax 708-209-3176 

www.CUChicago.edu 

The original Concordia 201 O PD application and approval included three different 
cellular providers. Both AT&T Wireless and T-Mobile exercised their options and built 
out cellular sites, AT&T on the northwest stair tower and T-Mobile on the southwest stair 
tower. Sprint/Clearwire never exercised its option. 

VM is interested in the southwest stair tower location. However, unlike 
Sprint/Clearwire, VZW cannot share the same 55'-65' space with T-Mobile and wants to 
go up another 1 O'. We will therefore be requesting a PD amendment which includes 
taking the stealth enclosure on the southwest stair tower up from the current 65' to a 
new 75' level. A rendering of the proposed extension of the stealth enclosure is 
attached. 

VM knows they have cellular coverage i$sues in our area of the village and this 
Concordia site offers them their only real option to improve that. Concordia's students 
and employees with VM phones regard the coverage as weak. We know that the 
neighbors surrounding our campus also experience poor coverage. 

We are requesting the opportunity to introduce our project to the village board and 
would be available on January 9 if that date is available. 

Thank you for the opportunity to present this project and for your consideration. 

Sincerely, 

~ 
Dr.Denn~ 
Vice President for Administration 
Concordia University Chicago 



600 Busse Highway, Park Ridge, IL 60068
Phone: 847.698.6400 Fax: 847.698.6401

FOREST

PARK NORTH

View from South looking North

AFTERBEFORE

PROPOSED LESSEE

ANTENNAS BEHIND

SCREEN WALL


	01-09-17 VBOT AGENDA
	5A. 12-12-16 VBOT Minutes
	5B. 12-12-16 Executive Session Minutes - VBOT
	5C.D. Resolutions for Hagensick and Johnson
	17-01 John Hagensick Traffic & Safety Commission Service
	17-02 Gerald Johnson  - Plan Commission Service

	5E. VBOT Item - Chevy Pickup Disposal
	5F. Memo to VBOT authorizing sale of Ford Crown Vic 19DEC2016
	5G. Final SSA Approval - 7820 Madison
	5H.1. Police Department December 2016 Monthly Report
	5H.2. Fire Department Monthly Report
	5H.3. PW Monthly Report - December 2016
	5H.4. December 2016 Monthly Building Report
	5I. December 2016 PM Report
	5J. VA Report 01-09-17
	7A.  Authorization of Third Amendment to the Redevelopment Agreement for Lake & Lathrop
	8A. CUC PD Amendment Introduction - Cell Antenna



